AN ANALYSIS OF CLINICAL SIGNS AND SYMPTOMS WHICH BEST PREDICT THE NEED FOR HAART INITIATION IN HIV INFECTED SOUTH AFRICAN WOMEN

Copy right of the above-mentioned described thesis rests with the author or the University to which it was submitted. No portion of the text derived from it may be published without the prior written consent of the author or University (as may be appropriate). Short quotations may be included in the text of a thesis or dissertation for purposes of illustration, comment or criticism, provided full acknowledgement is made of the source, author and University.

AN ANALYSIS OF CLINICAL SIGNS AND SYMPTOMS WHICH BEST PREDICT THE NEED FOR HAART INITIATION IN HIV INFECTED SOUTH AFRICAN WOMEN

By

Dr. Pius Gerald Horumpende

Supervisor: Dr. Sinéad Delany-Moretlwe.

Thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for

the degree of

Master of Science in Medicine (MSc Med) in the field of Epidemiology and Biostatistics

In Wits medical School, The Faculty of Health Sciences, University of The Witwatersrand

Johannesburg, South Africa, 2010.

Declaration

I, Dr. PIUS GERALD HORUMPENDE, hereby declare that this research report is my own original work. It is submitted for the award of the degree of Master of Science in Medicine (MSc Med) in the field of Epidemiology and Biostatistics of the University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg-South Africa. It has not been submitted before for any other degree award or examination at this or any other University.

Signature.....

Dr. PIUS GERALD HORUMPENDE

Copyright © University of The Witwatersrand, Johannesburg

All rights reserved

Dedications

To my Family with Love: Dr. Edna my wife and J. R. Kanyange my daughter who have endured a lot in my absence for studies in The Republic of South Africa.

To my sister: Felister Irandagiye Horumpende (RIP) (1963-2006) who acquired HIV in marriage and died of AIDS on 28th August 2006 at 16.00 hours in Tanzania.

To Dr. Julius Kambarage Nyerere (RIP) (1922-1999) who made sure, unlike other African Presidents, that even children of poor peasants in Tanzania go to school.

Abstract

Background. South Africa is currently experiencing one of the most severe AIDS epidemics in the world. The major challenge lies in prompt identification and early initiation of treatment in those eligible for HAART. Clinical staging has previously been recommended for use in settings where CD4 + count testing is not available. We conducted secondary data analysis to determine whether clinical symptoms and signs are useful in predicting the need for HAART initiation (CD4 + count < 200 cells/ μ L) in South Africa.

Methods. Screening data from a randomized controlled trial in women who were HIV positive were analysed. All participants were interviewed using a structured questionnaire to elicit symptom history and then physical examination was done. Participants were staged using WHO criteria. Blood was drawn for CD4 + testing. The association between signs and symptoms and a CD4 + < 200 cells/ μ L was assessed using logistic regression.

Results. Among 589 HIV infected women aged between 18 and 58 years, 90% were assessed as WHO clinical stages I/II. The median CD4 + count was 403 cells/ μ L (IQR: 273-586). Among women who were WHO stage I/II, 13% had CD4 + count < 200 cells/ μ L and required HAART. The WHO clinical staging had a low sensitivity (4%) but high specificity for detecting those that require treatment.

Conclusion: In a setting where asymptomatic patients are diagnosed with HIV, clinical assessment can not replace CD4 + count testing as a method of identifying those that need treatment.

Acknowledgements

I wish to express my heartfelt gratitude to my supervisor, **Dr. Sinéad Delany-Moretlwe**, without whose assistance and guidance - throughout the whole process - I could not have completed this work. Sinéad, I sincerely thank you very much. A big deal of the research skills I may have now and in future is owed to your steady and constant mentorship you bestowed me. Thus to honour you, I promise to keep in touch and continue learning.

This thesis is a result of the knowledge and skills accrued during the whole period of training and apprenticeship in Epidemiology and Biostatistics in the School of Public Health, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, Republic of South Africa. I have learnt a lot from a team of dedicated lecturers and colleagues. I thank the whole team in the school: Sharon Fonn, Shan Naidoo, Steve Tollman, Kerstin K.Grobusch, Edmore Marinda, Ronel Kellerman, Mary Kawonga, Eustasius Musenge, Peter-Cleaton Jones, Brendan Girdler Brown, Khin San Tint, Lawrence Mpinga, Lindy Mataboge, Renay Weiner just to mention a few.

I am greatly indepted to my supporters in Tanzania and South Africa (The Belgian Technical Cooperation and the Belgian Embassy in Dar es Salaam):H.E.Amb.Peter Maddens, Herman Boonen, Luc Slechten, Marc Rifflet, Rosemary Mpendazoe, Hamidah Mzoa. Belgian Embassy in Pretoria: Ravi Reddy, Florence Pondeville (who has just left for Belgium), Patrick Motlou, My colleagues: Fatuma Muslim and Omar Lweno, Mansour Ndiath (Wits) and Nasibu Nandonde (IFM-Dar), Gerald Nandonde and Stephen Mapunda (Beach Boy).

Exceptional recognition from my heart, accordingly, goes to those who made me acquire this qualification by granting me the scholarship and bestowed me a holistic care beyond my expectations: Nebeyu Shone, Graft Mugaragumbo, Victor - Chevalier Ndayizeye and Dijon-Hilzinger Maas.

My friends: Lunyungu Wa Muyinga Wa Munyigumba,Gambalanyela Ngawonalupembe, Ennio Amori, Beatrice Furaha, Giuseppe Gola, H.E. Dr.& Mme. Nsanze Augustin, H.E. & Mrs. Mweemba J. Simuyandi, Dr. & Mrs. Ringo Tenga, Mr. & Mrs. Alfred Mbabaye, Mr. & Mrs. Soge Mbabaye, Mr &Mrs. Abdallah (Dallas) Mwanauta, Mr.& Mrs.Willy Nyamitwe, Violet David & Nickson Mvumuye, Delphin Sibomana, Tania Van Leeve, Matsidiso Mhlongo, Arbogast Msangawale, Paschal Maziku, Selva Sebastian, Mr & Mrs.Didas Wambura, Mr & Mrs. Didas Mutagwaba,Victor Mwafongo, Cornelius Batamanagwa, Revocatus Fulla, Ernest Mateza, Johnson Nyagonde, Emmanuel Malangalila, Björn Blomberg, Inghar & Marianne Framberg, Rugola Mtandu, Sylvester Lyantagaye, Lameck Niyoshaka, Norbertha Gerald, Izotwibuka Anjela, Salum-Salvatory Guillaume, Richard Mbonayo,Adelin Ntirandekura, Leodegard Mujwahuzi, Remi Carrier, Ian van Engelgem, Simon Nibampa, Hussein Mwinyi,Gilbert Mliga, Leonard Lema, Adv. & Mrs. Frank Mwalongo, Mr. & Mrs. Abel Mwaisumo, Dr. & Mrs. Jean Minani, John Msengi, Emmanuel Msengi, Alfred Burimaso, Gideon Kwesigabo, Victor Mwafongo, Mustafa Bapumia, Kaushik Ramaiya, David Mwakyusa, Mohamed A. Mohamed, Gilbert Khadiagala, Jan E.Nordrehaug, Grete MarieEilertsen, Samuel Maselle, Abel Makubi, Ezekiel Kutto, Dan Ogolla (RIP), Sammy Khagayi, Peter Kibuda, Isakwisa Mwambapa, Hadija Mwema, Insp.Chrisantus Kitandala Lt. Ngulumba Mwambapa (**Ngux**), Lt. Democrite Kalikumutima, Capt. & Mrs. Mikidadi.M.Magogo, Capt. Pius Kishosha, Maj.& Mrs.F.Machemba, Maj & Mrs.A B Mkinga, Maj. & Mrs.D C Kakoko, Maj.& Mrs.M.Masalla, Maj.& Mrs.B.Mahali, Col.R K.Mwanga, Col. S.K. Fussi, Col. & Mrs.Mketto, Col. Rose Jelle, Col.T F Nandonde (RIP), Brig. Gen. Emmanuel Miburo Brig.Gen.Owen Mwambapa (RIP) and Marshall Ndayishimiye Gahutu Remy.

I pay tribute to my early spiritual guardians: His Eminence Rt.Msgr.Mario Epifanio Abdallah Mgulunde (RIP),Arch-Archev Norbert Mtega, Arch-Archev John B. Nterere (RIP), Rev. Fr.Wilfrid Dinho (who, as the Rector, had a total jurisdiction of terminating my secondary school studies due to lack of fees – but was merciful!), Rev. Frs: Castus Rwegoshora, Norberth Kitambwa (RIP), Leonard Yaga, Matheo Ntamaboko,Vedastus Nyamurundwa, Herman Katabazi (RIP), John B. Maganga,John Mungoni, Athanase Kiyenze, Chrispin Mligo, Filbert Mwageni (RIP), Innocent Ngaillo, Rt. Mgr.Joachim Ntahondereye, Mgr. Mbiku, Symphorien Ntibagirirwa, Paul - Steve Chobo, John F.Mlekwa (RIP), Domitius Kabura, Nestor Kaliope, Anthony Katoba, Anthony Malingumu and Sr. Anna Nkinga.

I wish to thank my great teachers in Medicine at the University of Dar es Salaam in a very special way: Dr. Johnson M. Lwakatare, Dr.Eden E. Maro and Professor Ferdinand Mugusi.

To all my loved ones, especially my parents Regina & Gerald Horumpende; my parents –inlaw Regina & Sebastian Majaliwa and my sister Justina Kabuzubuto Nandonde.

To Regina Niyibigira, my precious mother, Mama Hunga, Mama Suguru, the mother of twelve *disciples*: God is able raise another generation from a stone if the previous one perishes of corporatocracy, free market economy and globalization but He will always use a woman!

My siblings: Irandagiye Felister (RIP), Vyamanga S. Boniface, Febronia Dorothea, Hunga Norbertha, Izotwibuka Kanyenyeri Angela, Eng.Alex N. Mabruck, Aloys Minani, Genoveva Nyabenda, Buchumi Triphonia Monica, Bukuru Christina Hellen and our very dear last born Toyi Stanislaus (RIP) who died of The complications of Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy on 03/08/2009 at 12:45 hours while I was writing the manuscript of this study.

In the great totality of all of you mentioned above, I once more humbly say: *Asanteni Sana* for your support.

Last, though by no means least, special tribute goes to my wife Dr. Edna Majaliwa-Horumpende who, despite her own domestic and academic obligations in Italy, Tanzania, Kenya and Durban (South Africa), amazingly remained a wonderful wife and an excellent mother and so deserves abundant thanks. She and my daughter Justina Regina Kanyange (and her baby sitter Christina Kapugi) remain the persons behind the success of this work.

To my best friend and daughter **J.R. Kanyange**: Sorry for my staying away from you while still very young due to my studies in South Africa – sometimes you could not recognize me during my holidays. I promise you a distinguished care in the days ahead.

Le fléau n'est pas à la mesure de l'homme, on se dit donc que le fléau est irréel, c'est un mauvais rêve qui va passer. Mais il ne passe pas toujours et, de mauvais rêve en mauvais rêve, ce sont les hommes qui passent, et les humanistes en premier lieu, parce qu'ils n'ont pas pris leurs précautions.

(A pestilence isn't a thing made to man's measure; therefore we tell ourselves that pestilence is a mere bogey of the mind, a bad dream that will pass away. But it doesn't always pass away, and from one bad dream to another, it is men who passaway, and the humanists first of all, because they haven't taken their precautions.)

Albert Camus, La Peste, 1947

Table of Contents

Content pag	ge
Declaration	iii
Dedications	iv
Abstract	v
Acknowledgements	vi
Table of Contents	ix
List of Figures	xi
List of Tables	xii
List of Appendices	xiii
List of Abbreviations	xiv
Chapter 1: Introduction and Literature Review	1
1.0 Introduction and Background	1
1.1 Historical rationale for WHO clinical staging	1
1.3 Problem Statement	4
1.4 Literature review	5
1.4.1 Prevalence of HIV in South Africa	5
1.4.2 A need for HAART to treat opportunistic infections and prolong life	7
1.4.3 Treatment needs assessment in South Africa	9
1.4.4 The value of clinical staging in the decision to initiate treatment	10
1.5 Justification	19
1.6 Objectives	19
Chapter 2: Materials and Methods	20
2.1 Study Design	20
2.2 Study Population	20
2.3 Clinical Procedures	21
2.4 Laboratory Procedures	22

2.5 Statistical analysis
2.6 Study sample size and power25
2.7 Ethical Considerations
Chapter 3: Results
3.1 Identification of the patient population included in the analysis
3.2 Characteristics of Participants27
3.3 Patients with CD4 + count < 200 cells/ μ L while in WHO clinical stages I and II
3.4 Diagnostic value of WHO clinical criteria
3.5 Symptoms and/or signs associated with CD4 + count < 200 and < 350 cells/ μL
3.6 Sensitivity and specificity of modified clinical staging
Chapter 4: Discussion
4.1 Percentage of HAART eligible patients not detected by WHO criteria
4.2 Performance of WHO criteria to predict initiation of HAART
4.3 Symptoms and signs significantly predicting HAART initiation (i.e. CD 4 < 200 cells/ μ L) according to the current South African guidelines
4.4 Symptoms and signs significantly predicting HAART initiation (i.e. CD 4 < 350 cells/ μ L) according to the new WHO recommendation
5.1 The strengths of this study 48
5.2 Limitations of the study
Chapter 6: Conclusions and Recommendations50
7.0 References
8.0 Appendices

List of Figures

1.1 The Natural History of HIV infection	6
3.1 A flow chart showing how the sample was derived for analysis	21

List of Tables

1.1 An estimated number of people in need of HAART in South Africa, Malawi, Mozambique and Swaziland
1.2 Studies analyzing clinical symptoms and signs to predict the need to initiate HAART
1.3 Summary of performances of WHO clinical staging and the attempts for improvement15
1.4 Studies analyzing clinical symptoms and signs to predict the need to initiate HAART18
2.1 Formulae to calculate the epidemiological diagnostic tests
3.1 Characteristics of participants and clinical profile
3.2 The sensitivity, specificity, positive (PPV) and negative predictive values (NPV) of WHO clinical stage against CD4 + counts for the assessment of eligibility for HAART
3.3 The symptoms and signs predictive of the need to start HAART treatment (CD4 + count < 200 cells/ μ L)
3.4 The distribution of CD4 counts at a cut – off \leq 350 cells/ μ L and clinical indicators that remained significant in predicting CD4 + count \leq 350 cells/ μ L
3.5 Sensitivity, specificity, PPV and NPV for the indicators for multivariate significant variables at CD4 + thresholds 200 and 350 cells/µL
4.1 Summary of performances of WHO and the attempts for improvement

List of Appendices

Appendix 1 QUESTIONNAIRE USED FOR THE MAIN TRIAL	65
Appendix 2 ETHICAL CLEARANCE-MEDICAL- FROM ETHICS COMMITTEE.	85

List of Abbreviations

AIDS	Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome
ART	Antiretroviral Therapy
ASSA	Actuarial Society of South Africa
CD 4+ Cells	Cluster of Differentiation
type four protein (Cells responsible for body	y immunity and defence against diseases)
CDC	Centres for Disease Control
DOH	Department of Health
HAART	Highly active Antiretroviral Therapy
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
HREC	Human Subjects Research Ethics Committee
IVDU	Intravenous Drug Users
KS	Kaposi's Sarcoma
NGO	Non- Governmental Organization
PPE	Pruritic Papular Eruption
РТВ	Pulmonary Tuberculosis
RHRU	Reproductive Health and HIV Research Unit
TLC	Total Lymphocyte Count
UNAIDS	Joint United Nations Action against AIDS

UNICEF	United Nations Children's Fund
WHO	World Health Organization
BMI	Body mass Index
CI	Confidence Intervals
IQR	Interquartile Range

Chapter 1: Introduction and Literature Review

1.0 Introduction and Background

1.1 Historical rationale for WHO clinical staging

The World Health Organization (WHO) AIDS surveillance case definition was first developed by WHO in October 1985 in Bangui, Central African Republic. It was then revised in 1994 after a heavy criticism to incorporate the statement that HIV testing should be done. The AIDS case definition, and subsequent WHO clinical staging systems, have been proposed to be used in poor-resourced countries where laboratory facilities to test for CD4 + count are inaccessible (Grant, 2001).

The second revision of the WHO clinical staging system was in 2005. The WHO classification of HIV- associated clinical disease was revised in order to provide greater consistency between the adult and paediatric classification systems. Revisions were meant to form part of the baseline assessment (first visit) on entry into a care and treatment program and used to guide decisions on whether to start co-trimoxazole prophylaxis and when to start and switch ART in situations where CD4 + testing is not available (WHO,2006)

The WHO clinical staging system for HIV/AIDS, as developed in 1990, emphasized the use of clinical parameters to guide clinical decision-making for the management of HIV/AIDS patients. The WHO clinical staging system is needed for use in resource-limited settings where there is a limited access to laboratory services. The system has been widely used in resource-limited countries, particularly in the African Region (WHO, 2005). Several studies (Torpey, 2009; Jaffar, 2008; Edathodu, 2007; Erkose, 2007; Kagaayi, 2007; McGrath, 2007) have evaluated the correlation between CD4 + count and WHO staging in Africa. Three recent

studies (Torpey, 2009; Jaffar et al, 2008; McGrath, 2007) have indicated that the WHO clinical staging system is inadequate in correctly identifying individuals eligible for HAART initiation. The three studies suggested that CD4 + measurement is actually a much more accurate means to predict disease progression and hence the indication for HAART initiation as HAART became available.

1.2 Global overview of HIV/AIDS

An estimated 39 – 65 million people in the world were living with HIV/AIDS in 2007 (UNAIDS, 2008). Approximately 96% of HIV/AIDS patients live in low and middle income countries, with sub-Saharan Africa being the region worst affected. Even though sub-Saharan Africa is home to only 10 % of the world's population, 67% of all patients who are HIV positive reside here (UNAIDS, 2008).

While most of the 40 million people living with HIV/AIDS at the end of 2006 were in low- and middle-income countries, 20% of those in need of treatment were receiving highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) (UNAIDS, 2006).

Guidelines developed by the WHO for the use of HAART in low-income countries state that HIV– infected individuals should commence HAART if they have WHO stage IV disease, stage III disease and a CD4 + T lymphocyte cell counts of \geq 350 cells/µL, or stages I or II disease with CD4 + cell count < 200 cells/µL (WHO, 2006). Recently WHO has recommended increasing this threshold for stages I and II individuals to 350 cells/µL (Brodt, 2009). In many parts of sub-Saharan Africa, facilities for laboratory diagnosis and monitoring of CD4 + count are limited and inadequate to sustain the escalating of the HIV/AIDS epidemic (Jaffer, 2008). In resource-constrained settings, the cost of laboratory investigations is a key constraint that affects the initiation and monitoring of HAART (Torpey, 2009).

This study is undertaken to determine whether the use of clinical symptoms and signs alone is feasible and appropriate in asymptomatic individuals in a South African setting and hence in any high burden HIV setting especially in sub – Africa where laboratory diagnostic capacities are limited.

1.3 Problem Statement

CD4+ T lymphocyte count decline is an important predictor of progression to AIDS. In the developed world, this parameter is used to identify patients who need prophylaxis for opportunistic infections and HAART. In countries with limited resources, despite the increased access to HAART, CD4+ count testing is often not available (Lynen, 2006). While CD4+ count is the best indicator for the need to commence treatment, CD4 + count determination is not feasible in settings with poor access to laboratory services or where demand for services is high. Barriers to initiation of appropriate antiretroviral treatment include lack of CD4+ count measurements in the laboratory and trained personnel to make accurate clinical staging of HIV (Costello, 2004;UNAIDS/WHO,2006). In these instances, it may be useful to identify those that need treatment at the time of their diagnosis. The performance of WHO staging is questionable (Torpey, 2009). It is also not clear how the WHO staging works in HIV + population in good health. There is increasing pressure to initiate treatment early (Brodt, 2009). Thus a need arises, therefore, to determine whether the use of clinical signs and symptoms alone is feasible and appropriate in a South African setting.

1.4 Literature review

1.4.1 Prevalence of HIV in South Africa

South Africa is one of the worst affected countries in the world by the HIV pandemic (Steinbrook, 2004). By the end of 2008, 5.2 million of the 48 million people were living with HIV in South Africa (HSRC, 2009), and almost 1,000 AIDS deaths occurring every day (UNAIDS/WHO, 2008). HIV prevalence among pregnant women has risen steadily from 10.4 % in 1995 to 30.2 % (95% CI 29.1-31.2) in 2005. In the 2008 HSRC survey, amongst the general population, HIV prevalence was 10.6% (12.8% in females and 9.5% in males).

Women are at a higher risk of HIV infection than men in South Africa.

Evidence shows that women are at a higher risk of HIV infection than men. The South African National HIV prevalence, incidence, behaviour and communication survey conducted in 2008 showed that females aged 15-19 years have an 2.7 times higher HIV prevalence than males (6.7% compared to 2.5%) and account for 83% of the recent HIV infections in this age group. In African adults aged 15-49 years the HIV prevalence was 16.9%. The figure for African women in the same age group is 24.4% (Shisana, 2009). Young women are particularly affected. A cross-sectional, nationally representative, household survey was done in South Africa among 11, 904 young people in the age group 15 - 24 year olds. The results showed that young women were significantly more likely to be infected with HIV in comparison with young men (15.5% versus 4.8%) (Pettifor, 2005).

In sub-Saharan Africa, the major route of HIV transmission is heterosexual in about 90% of cases. Initial infection with HIV is sub-clinical. This is followed by an asymptomatic phase lasting a median duration of 10 years (Jaffar, 2004). Early symptomatic infections include fever, unexplained weight loss, recurrent diarrhoea, fatigue and headache. Subsequent manifestations include cutaneous or dermatological conditions. Late symptomatic stage begins as the CD4 + count falls to lower than 200 cells/ μ L and the risk of developing AIDS-related opportunistic infections or malignancy increases (Mindel, 2001) (Fig.1.1).

Figure 1.1 Schematic Natural History of HIV infection



Association between virological, immunological, and clinical events and time course of HIV infection

(Source: Mindel, 2001)

There are few studies on the natural history of HIV infection among African populations, and little is known about the natural history of HIV infection in Africa. However, in a review, Jaffar (2004) showed that the time from infection to symptomatic (AIDS) phases was similar for sub Saharan African patients when compared to patients in developed countries prior to introduction of HAART. The authors noted that there was a more rapid progression from symptomatic phase to death among sub-Saharan African cohorts than those of developed countries. The rapid progression was attributable to the background co-morbidities in among the patients from sub Saharan Africa notably tuberculosis, sexually transmitted infections, clinical malaria, and high malaria parasitaemia. The co-morbidities were coupled with a lack of treatment of these potentially curable infections due to poor clinical services (Jaffar, 2004).

1.4.2 A need for HAART to treat opportunistic infections and prolong life

HAART is currently recommended for at a CD4 + count < 200 cells per μ L in South Africa (DOH, 2006). However, a recent computer simulation model of HIV disease has indicated that initiating HAART at a CD4 + count threshold of 350 cells per μ L would remain cost-effective over the next 5 years before the results of clinical trials to determine the most plausible CD4 + count threshold for HAART initiation (Walensky, 2009). Treatment is started at this level in order to prevent opportunistic infections and death. With increased use of HAART the survival among even the advanced HIV disease patients has improved substantially (Mindel, 2001; Munderi, 2004; Castilla, 2005 and Louwagie, 2007). A study from Cape Town showed that delay in the initiation of treatment lead to the increase of mortality and morbidity (Lawn, 2006).

The best possible time to begin HAART has recently been established to be CD4 + count \geq 350 cells per µL where 18 cohort studies of patients with HIV were analysed (Brodt, 2009). However Wood et al, (2005) had described data from observational studies suggesting a longer term benefit when HAART is begun well before the CD 4 + count falls to 200 cells/µL or less. An analysis of data from 10, 885 individuals who were AIDS free and ART-naive at onset of HAART found that the risk of progression to AIDS was higher in those starting HAART at CD4 + count 200 cells/ μ L or less (HR=3·30, 95% CI: 2·51–4·33) compared to those with CD4 + count 201–350 cells/ μ L, (HR=1·46, 95% CI: 0·96–2·21) or 351–500 cells/ μ L after adjusting for lead-time bias and hidden events (Sterne , 2006). Further evidence of goals and importance of HAART is to prevent opportunistic infections, resistance to HAART and also to prevent the occurrence of non AIDS events (SMART trial, 2006).

Two studies underscored other benefits of early initiation of HIV treatment. These benefits include potential effectiveness in reducing HIV secondary transmission (Castilla, 2005) and preservation of ability to use chemokine receptor CCR 5 entry inhibitors (Deeks, 2006).

There is also strong evidence for the clinical benefit of HAART in adults with advanced HIV/AIDS as determined virologically, clinically and immunologically (WHO/HIV/2005).

Munderi et al, (2004) conducted the Development of Anti-Retroviral Therapy in Africa trial on the CD4 + response to HAART in previously untreated adults with HIV infection in Africa. This trial was an open-label, randomized trial comparing 2 therapeutic approaches to be tested in resource-poor settings. Participants were 3,000 symptomatic ART-naive adults from 3 sites (2 in Uganda, 1 in Zimbabwe) who had CD4 + < 200 cells/ μ L who received 3-drug HAART, and were followed for 5 years. The trial showed an increase in CD4 + count (immunological response) whereby 49 % adults had an increase in CD4 + count by at least 100 cells/ μ L at 24 weeks (median increase 98, IQR: 44-152).The trial concluded that achieving CD4 + count increases of > 100 cells after 24 weeks on HAART in Africa appears to occur regardless of pre-HAART factors including low baseline CD 4+ count.

Munderi et al (2004) again showed the benefit of HAART among the participants in Entebbe cohort. The Entebbe cohort (EC) is an active, community-based clinical cohort of HIV-infected adults set up in 1995. The death rate observed in patients with CD4 + < 200 cells/µL at

enrolment into the EC during the first year (1995/96) was compared with the rate observed in the DART study during the first year of follow-up. The study showed that the introduction of HAART resulted in a highly statistically significant reduction in HIV related mortality among patients with advanced HIV infection in this Ugandan community. These data also showed that HAART initiation even in those most severely immunosupressed (CD4+ < 50 cells/ μ L) was still highly beneficial.

1.4.3 Treatment needs assessment in South Africa

An estimated 1,720,000 HIV infected people in South Africa require treatment as ascertained by a recent study using a Markov model of HIV progression in adults, combined with estimates of annual new HIV infections from a national AIDS and demographic model. (Johnson, 2009).Those accessing HAART from the public and NGO sectors by the end of 2005 were 200,000 people only (Nicoli,2006).

	South Africa	Malawi	Mozambique	Swaziland
Total population	49 200 000	11 200 000	18 000 000	1 029 000
Mean adult HIV seroprevalence	10.6%	15%	14%	38%
Total number of HIV-positive people	5 215 200	900 000	1 400 000	200 000
Estimated number of people in need of HAART	1 72 1212	170 000	270 000	20 000

Table 1.1 An estimated number of people in need of HAART in South Africa,Malawi, Mozambique and Swaziland.

{Source: Johnson, 2009}

There are several reasons why treatment uptake is low. Low counselling and testing rates may be attributed to fear of knowing one's status and fear of disclosure which may lower treatment uptake (Newman, 2007). Lack of laboratory diagnostic services in sub- Saharan Africa is an impediment to accurate diagnosis and hence initializing treatment (Petti, 2006). In one publication, Erhabor (2006) has shown that the absence of CD4 + count measurements is a barrier to the decision to initiate HAART among HIV infected Nigerians.

1.4.4 The value of clinical staging in the decision to initiate treatment

The WHO proposed a staging system in 1994 to assist poorly - resourced countries for surveillance and monitoring of HIV disease. Staging is based on clinical findings that guide the diagnosis, evaluation, and management of HIV/AIDS, and does not require a CD4+ cell count. It is a symptom based classification. This staging system is used in many countries to determine eligibility for antiretroviral therapy. Clinical stages are categorized as I through IV, progressing from primary HIV infection to advanced HIV/AIDS. These stages are defined by specific clinical conditions. For the purpose of the WHO staging system, adolescents and adults are defined as individuals aged ≥ 15 years (WHO, 2005).

REVISED WHO CLINICAL STAGING OF HIV/AIDS FOR ADULTS AND ADOLESCENTS

(Interim African Region version for persons aged 15 years or more with positive HIV antibody test or other laboratory evidence of HIV infection)^b

TABLE 1. REVISED WHO CLINICAL STAGING OF HIV/AIDS FOR ADULTS AND ADOLESCENTS

Primary HIV infection

Asymptomatic Acute retroviral syndrome

Clinical stage 1

Asymptomatic Persistent generalized lymphadenopathy (PGL)

Clinical stage 2

Moderate unexplained weight loss (<10% of presumed or measured body weight) Recurrent respiratory tract infections (RTIs, sinusitis, bronchitis, otitis media, pharyngitis) Herpes zoster Angular cheilitis Recurrent oral ulcerations Papular pruritic eruptions Seborrhoeic dermatitis Fungal nail infections of fingers

Clinical stage 3

Conditions where a presumptive diagnosis can be made on the basis of clinical signs or simple investigations

Severe weight loss (>10% of presumed or measured body weight) Unexplained chronic diarrhoea for longer than one month Unexplained persistent fever (intermittent or constant for longer than one month) Oral candidiasis Oral hairy leukoplakia Pulmonary tuberculosis (TB) diagnosed in last two years Severe presumed bacterial infections (e.g. pneumonia, empyema, pyomyositis, bone or joint infection, meningitis, bacteraemia) Acute necrotizing ulcerative stomatitis, gingivitis or periodontitis **Conditions where confirmatory diagnostic testing is necessary**

Unexplained anaemia (<8 g/dl), and or neutropenia (<500/mm³) and or thrombocytopenia (<50 000/ mm³) for more than one month

^b All clinical events or conditions referred to are described in the Annexes. The UN defines adolescents as persons aged 10–19 years but, in the present document, the category of adults and adolescents comprises people aged 15 years and over for surveillance purposes.

Clinical stage 4

Conditions where a presumptive diagnosis can be made on the basis of clinical signs or simple investigations HIV wasting syndrome Pneumocystis pneumonia Recurrent severe or radiological bacterial pneumonia Chronic herpes simplex infection (orolabial, genital or anorectal of more than one month's duration) Oesophageal candidiasis Extrapulmonary TB Kaposi's sarcoma Central nervous system (CNS) toxoplasmosis HIV encephalopathy Conditions where confirmatory diagnostic testing is necessary: Extrapulmonary cryptococcosis including meningitis Disseminated non-tuberculous mycobacteria infection Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML) Candida of trachea, bronchi or lungs Cryptosporidiosis Isosporiasis Visceral herpes simplex infection Cytomegalovirus (CMV) infection (retinitis or of an organ other than liver, spleen or lymph nodes) Any disseminated mycosis (e.g. histoplasmosis, coccidiomycosis, penicilliosis) Recurrent non-typhoidal salmonella septicaemia Lymphoma (cerebral or B cell non-Hodgkin) Invasive cervical carcinoma Visceral leishmaniasis

Source: WHO/HIV/2005.02

Several studies have been done to validate the WHO clinical staging. The majority of the studies have suggested that a simple rearrangement of the symptoms and signs in a given environment could better predict the eligibility of patients in poorly resourced settings (Malamba, 1999). Table 1.2 summarises data from 14 studies which address different aspects of validation of WHO clinical staging in predicting eligibility for HAART. The studies assess

the relationship between clinical symptoms and signs and either WHO stage, CD4 + count and/ or risk of progression to AIDS.

In a routine service delivery setting in Uganda, Jaffar et al (2008) assessed the ability of the WHO clinical staging to accurately identify HIV-infected patients in whom HAART should be started. Among 4302 patients, the sensitivity of the WHO criteria to identify eligible patients for HAART i.e. CD4 + count < 200 cells/ μ L was 52% (95% CI: 50-54). In this setting, a large number of individuals (about 50%) would not have received treatment if eligibility to HAART was assessed on the basis of WHO clinical staging alone. These data suggest that in settings where clinical staging alone is used, many patients would have had treatment deferred until a time when they have much more advanced disease.

One author suggested a targeted CD4 + testing only to certain HIV infected individuals in WHO stage III whose staging is based on weight loss alone in settings where routine CD4 + count is not feasible due to poor resources (Lynen et al 2006).

In another study (Kagaayi, 2007) the ability of WHO clinical staging to predict CD4 + cell counts of 200 cells/ μ L or less was evaluated among 1,221 patients screened for HAART. The sensitivity and specificity of WHO criteria was 51% and 88% respectively. Clinical criteria missed half the patients with CD4 + cell counts of 200 cells/ μ L or less.

Other authors highlighted the importance of CD 4+ cell measurements for the scale-up of ART provision in resource-limited settings (Kagaayi et al, 2007; Jaffar et al, 2008).

From the literature reviewed the majority of studies recommended modifications to WHO staging by a simple rearrangement of the symptoms and signs in order to accurately predict eligibility for HAART initiation in their respective populations (Malamba, 1999; Morpeth, 2007).

Author and	Year	Design	Study Population	Clinical	Results	Outcome Measure	Comment
study area				Symptoms and signs			
(1)TorpeyK,et al (Zambia) AFRICA	2009	Retrospectiv e study	5784 HIV patients		-29.5% were in stages I and II and had a CD 4 \leq 200 cells/µL 34.6 had a CD 4 count \leq 350 cells/µL and were in WHO stages I/ II.	Sensitivity, Specificity NPV,PPV	WHO Clinical staging is inadequate to identify persons eligible for HAART
(2) Jaffar et al (Uganda) AFRICA	2008	A pragmatic effectivene ss study	4302 subjects screened for ART		-About 50% with WHO stage I/II had CD 4 count < cells/ μ L -the sensitivity and specificity (95% CI) of WHO stage III/IV against a CD4 count < 200 x 10 ⁶ /1 were 52% (50, 54%) and 68% (66, 70%) respectively.	Sensitivity and specificity	 WHO clinical staging missed 50% of patients eligible for ART. -Urgent need for greater CD4 count prior to initiation of ART to accompany the roll-out of ART.
(3) Kagaayi et al (Uganda) AFRICA	2007	Cohort Study	1221 patients of whom 65% were women		Sensitivity was 51%, Specificity was 88%, the positive predictive value was 64%, the negative predictive value was 81%	Sensitivity, Specificity, Positive predictive value, Negative predictive value, WHO staging	Clinical criteria missed half the patients with CD4 cell counts of 200 cells/µl or less, highlighting the importance of CD4 cell measurements for the scale- up of ART provision in resource- limited settings.
(4) Erkose and Erturan (Turkey) EUROPE	2007	Cross Sectional	64 HIV infected out patients coming for viral load and CD 4+ count measurements	Oral candidiasis	No correlation between oral candida and declining CD 4 +count.	CD 4+ counts	High prevalence of candida among HIV infected patients but not indicative of declining CD 4 +count.

Table 1.3 Studies analyzing clinical symptoms and signs to predict the need to initiate HAART.

(5) McGrath (Malawi) AFRICA	2007	Cross sectional	11,800 HIV seropositive adults aged 18-59 years in selected households in Karonga DSS site.		 -WHO staging had a sensitivity 50% and specificity 96% in predicting those eligible for HAART -Those eligible for HAART by WHO criteria were 31% and by CD 4 count criteria they were 38% 	Sensitivity and specificity	WHO clinical staging alone missed 2/3 i.e. two thirds of those eligible for ART by clinical staging and CD 4 count
(6) Morpeth S. (Tanzania) AFRICA	2007	Cross sectional	202 HIV infected adult patients	Mucocutaneou s Manifestations	The feature most strongly associated with CD4 count <200 (p-value <0.0001) was the presence of mucocutaneous manifestations (72%), with a sensitivity of 85% and specificity of 63% for predicting CD4 count <200 cells/ μ L	Symptoms & signs,CD 4 counts & Laboratory parameters(TLC and ESR)	The presence of mucocutaneous manifestations was a strong predictor of CD4 count <200 cells/ μ L and enhanced the sensitivity of the 2006 WHO staging criteria for identifying patients likely to benefit from antiretrovirals.
(7) Edathodu J(Saudi Arabia) ASIA	2007	Retrospecti ve chart review	191 HIV infected patients	Clinical events listed in the 2005 WHO staging	16/110 (15%) in WHO stage I had CD4<200; $3/10(30\%)$ in WHO stage II had CD4 + count <200 and 10-15% of patients at stages III and IV had CD4 count >350.	WHO clinical staging and CD4 + counts	WHO clinical staging criteria missed 19/191 i.e. 10% of those eligible for HAART
(8) Lynen et al.(Cambodia) ASIA	2006	Retrospecti ve analysis of cohort data	648 HIV patients in a follow up at the Sihanouk Hospital		9 % i.e.52 patients were wrongly identified by WHO criteria to be in need of HAART(i.e. had CD4 + count >200)	sensitivity, specificity, and accuracy of the 2003 WHO criteria to start HAART	Target CD 4 testing to patients in WHO stage 3 whose staging is based on weight loss alone.
(9) Teck et al (Malawi) AFRICA	2005	Cross sectional	457 HIV positive individuals in stages 3 and 4 registered at HIV clinic	ТВ	413/457 i.e. 90% of Patients in WHO stage 3 and 4 had CD4 + count \leq 350 cells/µL while 10 % had CD 4 count > 350 cells/µL.	CD 4+ counts	 (1) 10 % would be started on ART prematurely.(2) WHO staging is an appropriate method to predict ART eligibility (especially in advanced stages) (3) Active or previous TB patients in stages 3 and 4 had low CD4 + count (<350) thus eligible for ART.
(10) Costello et al (Thailand)	2004	Cross	839 HIV positive		The WHO guidelines had a sensitivity of 34.1% in men and 31.8% in women	Sensitivity and	WHO staging was improved by a

ASIA		sectional	Blood donors		to detect persons with CD4 + count < 200	specificity	combination of anaemia
(11) Muhammad B et al (Tanzania) AFRICA	2003	A sub- study from an ongoing cohort study	716 Police Officers of whom 127 were HIV positive	Fungal infections, herpes zoster, Pruritic papular eruption, seborrheic dermatitis and Kaposi's sarcoma	Mean CD4+ counts (percentage) : KS: 75. Cells/µL (4.0%) PPE: 71. cells/µL	CD 4 counts	Pruritic Papular Eruption (PPE) i.e. skin rash; and Kaposis Sarcoma (KS) are markers of severe immunodeficiency due to HIV.
(12) Malamba SS et al (Uganda) AFRICA	1999	A Cohort Study	1666 Incident and prevalent HIV cases followed up for 7 years (1990- 1997).	Unexplained prolonged fever ,severe bacterial infection ,HSV ,cryptosporidi osis and Oral candidiasis	(1)Unexplained prolonged fever and severe bacterial infection had survival probabilities closer to stage II conditions; (2) HSV > 1 month and cryptosporidiosis with diarrhoea had survival probability closer to stage III conditions; (3) Oral candidiasis was closer stage IV conditions.	WHO clinical staging	 -WHO staging is useful to predict low immunity (low CD4 + cells) and Survival even without the laboratory markers. -A simple re-arrangement of a few clinical conditions will improve prediction of Low CD4 + and thus prognosis by the WHO system.
(13) Kassa et al (Ethiopia) AFRICA	1999	Cross sectional	86 HIV positive individuals in all WHO stages	Minor weight loss, pulmonary tuberculosis	23/86(27%) had CD 4 count < 200 cells/μL BUT only one (1) individual was in WHO stage IV.	CD4 + counts, viral load, sensitivity and PPV and WHO staging	-Clinical staging missed 27% eligible for ART; -Overall good correlation between WHO staging and CD 4 count.
(14) Aylward RB et al (Baltimore) USA	1993	Cross sectional	694 HIV seropositive IV Drug Users		The risk of progression to AIDS was increased in those in WHO stages 2 (HR 1.51 CI: 0.6-3.8) and 3(HR 2.39 CI: 1.4-4.1) compared to those in WHO stage 1.	The hazard for progression to AIDS	This study supports the utility of the WHO staging system in predicting progression from HIV seropositivity to AIDS on the basis of clinical signs and symptoms.

Table 1.4 Summary of performances of WHO clinical staging and the attempts for improvement.

Study	Parameter of WHO clin measured	Suggestion for improvement of WHO staging criteria	
Jaffar et al,2008	Sensitivity 52%	Specificity 68%	Urgent need for CD 4 + count
Morpeth S,2007	Sensitivity 85%	Specificity 63%	The presence of mucocutaneous manifestations
Lynen,2006	accuracy of the 2003 WHO criteria to start HAART		WHO stage III with weight loss
Teck et al, 2005	Proportion of WHO stage III/IV with CD4 + count ≤ 350 cells/µL		1-Advanced stage of HIV 2.Active or previous history of tuberculosis
Costello et al,2004	Sensitivity 33%		Anaemia,PPE and KS
Muhammad B,2003	Symptoms and signs predicting severe immunosuppression		PPE and KS
Malamba,1999	Symptoms and signs in WHO clinical axis and their corresponding CD4 + counts ≤ 200 cells/µL		A simple re-arrangement of a few clinical conditions

1.5 Justification

Previous studies have attempted to correlate clinical symptoms and signs with CD4 + counts (Malamba, 1999; Kassa, 1999; Morpeth, 2007). A recent study in Johannesburg screened 589 HIV positive women to determine eligibility for a clinical trial. The screening procedures included an assessment of clinical stage of HIV disease using WHO staging criteria (WHO, 2005) in potential participants; thus providing an opportunity to investigate the association between symptoms and signs and CD4 + count. To our knowledge, there are few studies that have provided data on people recruited from the community (i.e. not a hospital based data) (Jaffar, 2008, McGrath, 2007, Lynen, 2005).

1.6 Objectives

We undertook this secondary data analysis to:

1. Determine the distribution of symptoms and signs in women with HIV disease in Johannesburg, South Africa.

2. Determine the distribution of CD4 + count in women with HIV disease in Johannesburg, South Africa.

3. Identify the clinical symptoms and signs which best predict the need to initiate HAART (CD4 + count \leq 200 cells/µL).

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

2.1 Study Design

We conducted secondary data analysis using cross sectional screening data from 589 females participating in a randomized controlled clinical trial in HIV positive women (Delany, 2009).

2.2 Study Population

2.3.1 Inclusion criteria

The trial included women who were: 18 years of age and above, HIV seropositive on two independent rapid tests, resident in Johannesburg for the period of the study, consenting to participate in the study and who had their CD4 + counts measured.

2.3.2 Exclusion criteria

The trial excluded women who were: pregnant, involved in another ongoing trial, epileptic,

not HSV-2 seropositive, could not adhere to visit schedule, had > 6 episodes of genital herpes per year, had genital urinary disease (GUD) >1 month and those who could not undergo a clinical evaluation.(Fig. 2.1)



Fig. 2.1 A flow chart showing how the sample was derived for analysis

2.3 Clinical Procedures

Potential participants were invited from local clinics and the surrounding community to attend the study clinic at RHRU at 17 Esselen Street Clinic in Johannesburg, for voluntary counselling and testing for HIV after giving written informed consent. Those who met the
eligibility criteria were then enrolled in the main clinical trial. At screening, participants were interviewed and examined by experienced doctors and nurses on specific HIV- related features. The doctors and nurses recorded the findings on a standardized checklist of possible HIV- related signs and symptoms which was based on the WHO criteria for clinical staging for HIV (Appendix 1) (WHO,1994). Some additional clinical features (e.g. fatigue or participant looking tired, dehydration etc) which are not strictly in the WHO clinical criteria were recorded by clinicians during physical examination. These features are incorporated in this analysis to examine their usefulness in predicting the outcome variable (i.e. CD4 + counts).

According to the trial protocol, blood was drawn for CD4 + count measurement in those who were in WHO clinical stages I/II. Those that were in WHO stages III/IV were referred for treatment immediately.

2.4 Laboratory Procedures

CD4 + counts were determined using the pan leucogating method (Wilja, 2002). All blood specimens were collected for processing, testing and/or storage at the Contract Laboratory Services (CLS) which is located within the University of the Witwatersrand Medical School at Parktown (approximately 5-10 minutes drive from the study clinic) in Johannesburg.

2.5 Statistical analysis

The data set was analysed using STATA 9. Descriptive statistics were used to summarize the distribution of symptoms and signs and CD 4 + counts among the study population.

2.5.1 Tests used to determine the predictive value of WHO clinical staging system.

Sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive values, negative predictive values, odds ratios and their 95% confidence intervals were used to determine the reliability of the WHO staging system in predicting the CD4 + count ≤ 200 cells/µL and < 350 cells/µL. Table 1.3 shows the categories of parameters and the subsequent formulae (Katzenellenbogen, Joubert and Abdool-Karim, 1997).

Table 2.1	Formulae to	calculate	the enidemi	inlogical	diagnostic	tests
1 abic 2.1	r or mutac to	calculate	the epidem	luiugicai	ulagnostic	10313

	CD 4 <= 200	CD 4 > 200	Total
WHO stage III,IV	А	В	A+B
WHO stage I,II	С	D	C+D
Total	A+C	B+D	A+B+C+D

Sensitivity

Sensitivity was defined as the proportion of CD4 + counts \leq 200 cells/µL classified as WHO stage III/IV.

Sensitivity = $A / A + C \ge 100$

Also the *cii* command in stata was used to give both the sensitivity (given as mean) and its 95% CI as: *cii* (A+C)A, where (A+C) = total binomial events, A = number of observed successes

Specificity

Specificity was defined as the proportion of CD4 + count > 200 classified as WHO stage I/ II

Specificity = $D/B+D \ge 100$

Also the cii command in stata was used to give specificity (given as mean) and the 95% CI across the mean

Positive Predictive value (PPV)

PPV was defined as the proportion of WHO stage I/II that have CD4 + count \leq 200 cells/µL

 $PPV = A / A + B \times 100$

Also the cii command in stata was used to give the positive predictive value (given as mean) and the 95% CI across the mean

Negative Predictive Value (NPV)

The NPV was defined as the proportion of WHO stage III/IV that have CD4≥200 cells/µL

NPV= D /C+D x100

Also the cii command in Stata was used to give the positive predictive value (given as mean) and the 95% CI across the mean

2.5.2 Regression analyses

The assessment of the diagnostic value of the WHO criteria to predict CD4 + count (above or below 200 cells/µL) was evaluated using univariate logistic regression. The strength of association between symptoms and signs (clinical indicators) and CD 4 + count \leq 200 cells/µL was determined by odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals. Adjusted analysis was performed to identify the symptoms and signs that were significantly associated with the CD count \leq 200 cells/µL at a significance level of 0.2. These significant symptoms and signs at a univariate model were used to predict CD4 + \leq 200 cells/µL by fitting multivariate models using logistic regression. The model adequacy was tested using **estat gof** command. The **link-test** was used to test for the presence of interaction among the symptoms and signs that persistently remained significantly predicting CD4+ count < 200 cells/µL at a multivariate

level. The above analysis was repeated to determine whether these indicators were still useful if the criteria for treatment were raised to CD4 + count \leq 350 cells/µL. The remaining symptoms and signs not significantly predicting CD4 + count \leq 200 or \leq 350 cells/µL at univariate analysis were excluded from the analysis of sensitivity, specificity, positive and negative predictive values. If such statistical tests were performed on these symptoms and signs, they would neither have shown any significant results nor be able to correlate their presence with the CD 4 count \leq 200 or \leq 350 cells/µL.

2.6 Study sample size and power

Hypothesis:

We hypothesized that the use of WHO clinical staging system alone is feasible and appropriate to identify HIV positive asymptomatic women eligible for HAART (i.e. CD4 + count ≤ 200 cells/µL) in a South African setting.

The study sample size was determined by the method of "Estimated sample size for twosample comparison of means" where a comparative study (Post, 1995) was considered. The Evaluation of WHO staging performance study had a mean CD4 + count of 455 cells/ μ L and a standard deviation and 252 while the study by Post (1995) had mean CD4 + count of 389 cells/ μ L and standard deviation and 161 respectively. The sample sizes of the former and the latter studies had a ratio of 3.5. Significance level of 0.05 was assumed; giving a required minimum sample size of 242 participants in order to have a power of 0.9708 to detect the differences between those with CD4 + count < or \geq 200 cells/ μ L. Although this study is now a secondary (post-hoc) data analysis, the study power of 0.9708 is strong enough to test our hypothesis.

2.7 Ethical Considerations

Informed consent in the language of the patient was sought prior to study procedures. Patients were consulted in the key elements of the informed consent process viz. volunteer, option to withdraw without prejudice and risk benefits. Patients therefore filled and signed written informed consent at screening phase of the main trial. Confidentiality of individual study participants was observed by using unique identification numbers.

The investigator of this study obtained an approval from RHRU to use the data collected at the screening phase of the main trial. The protocol of this study was submitted to the University of the Witwatersrand Human Subjects Research Ethics Committee for clearance. The protocol was unconditionally approved by the HREC and given the ethical clearance reference number M080339.

Chapter 3: Results

3.1 Identification of the patient population included in the analysis

A total of 589 HIV infected women completed screening visits. Of 589 women assessed, 526 were assessed as clinically WHO stages I/II and 32 were in stages III/IV. Thirty one (31) were not assessed further because they did not meet other trial eligibility criteria (Fig.2.1).

3.2 Characteristics of Participants

Overall 73 (13%) of 526 participants had CD 4+ count < 200 cells/ μ L while 136 (26%) of 526 had CD 4 + count < 350 cells/ μ L. By stage 13% in stage I/II had CD 4+ <200 cells/ μ L compared to 3(50%) of 6 participants while 26% in stage I/II had CD 4+ < 350 cells/ μ L compared to 2 (33%) of 6 participants in stages III/IV. The mean age of all participants was 32, standard deviation 7 and the minimum and maximum age of 18 to 58 years respectively.

In this study population, the median time since diagnosis for all participants was 0.76 years (IQR: 0.09 - 3.00) i.e. 9 months. Among all patients (N=526) the most common symptoms were pain or difficulty in swallowing (dysphagia and possible oesophageal candidiasis) (18%), cough for more than one month (8%), and previous hospitalization in the past twelve months (10%). The most common causes for hospitalization in the preceding twelve months were obstetric and gynaecological problems (53%), pneumonia (14%), and tuberculosis (12%). Less frequently reported symptoms were diarrhoea (6%) and fever (4%). Overall, on examination the most common finding was swollen glands in the neck or armpits. The median CD4 + count overall was 403 cells/ μ L (IQR: 273-586). Table 3.1 summarises patient characteristics by WHO stage.

Table 3.1 indicates that the majority of study participants were in the early stages of HIV infection. Those in clinical stages I/II had been diagnosed more recently and had a higher median CD4 + count than those in clinical stages III/IV.

Table 3.1 Characteristics of participants and clinical profile

Characteristic	WHO Stage I/II N =520	WHO Stage III/IV N=6		
	N (%) or Median(IQR)	N (%) or Median(IQR)		
Median time since HIV diagnosis (years)	0.8(0.1-3.0)	1.7 (0.1-1.8)		
Symptom history				
Pain or difficulty with swallowing	96(18)	1(17)		
Hospitalized in the previous 12 months	51(10)	0(00)		
Cough > 1 month	42(8)	1(17)		
Night sweats > 1 month	25(5)	1(17)		
Headache > 1 month	24(5)	1(17)		
Confined to bed > 50% the day time	25(5)	1(17)		
(Substantial unintentional weight loss ≥ 10% body weight	17(3)	2(33)		
Diarrhoea > 1 month (i.e. ≥ 3 loose stools/day)	8(2)	1(17)		
Persistent genital or oral sores >1 month	7(2)	2(33)		
History of Tuberculosis	27(5)	1(17)		
Generalized body rash	34(7)	3(50)		
Examination findings				
Swollen glands in the neck/axillae	65(13)	2(33)		
Lymphadenopathy	40(8)	0(00)		
Oral thrush (candida)	21(4)	2(33)		
Zoster (shingles)	22(4)	1(17)		
Participant looks tired	10(2)	0(00)		
Generalized skin rash	12(2)	1(17)		
Median CD 4+ count [cells/ μL (IQR)]	405(279 -588)	211 (174 -248)		
CD4+ count (cells/ μ L)				
< 200	70(13)	3(50)		
200-350	134(26)	2(33)		
>350	316 (61)	1(17)		

3.3 Patients with CD4 + count < 200 cells/µL while in WHO clinical stages I and II

Seventy three (14 %) of the study population had CD 4+ count < 200 cells/ μ L.

Table 3.1 indicates that 70 (13%) of 520 women were in WHO clinical stages I and II and they had CD4 + count < 200 cells/ μ L. One hundred thirty four (26%) of 520 women who had CD4 + counts in the category < 350 cells/ μ L would become eligible for ARV if treatment guidelines were to change.

3.4 Diagnostic value of WHO clinical criteria

We assessed the diagnostic value of WHO staging in this population. The results are presented in table 3.2. Table 3.2 shows a low sensitivity of WHO clinical staging in predicting CD4 +count < 200 cells/ μ L and < 350 cells/ μ L but a high specificity. It also shows a higher specificity and a positive predictive value from a CD 4 + counts 200 to 350 cells/ μ L. However, confidence intervals are wide because of small numbers of the patients with CD4 + counts < 200 and also ≤ 350 cells/ μ L.

Table 3.2 The sensitivity, specificity, positive (PPV) and negative predictive values(NPV) of WHO clinical stage against CD4 + counts for the assessment of eligibility forHAART.

	CD4 count × 10 ⁶ /l (number		Total	Sens	Spec	PPV	NPV		
	of subjects)								
WHO stage	<200	≥200			[Percent (95% CI)]				
III,IV	3	3	6						
I,II	70	450	520	4(1-12)	99(98-100)	50(12-88)	87(83-89)		
Total	73	453							
	<350	≥350							
III,IV	5	1	6	2(1-6)	99(98-100)	83(36-99)	61(57-65)		
I,II	203	317	520						
Total	208	318							

Table 3.2 indicates that the likelihood of identifying an HIV patient with WHO clinical stage I/II and having CD4 + counts \leq 200 cells/µL is 4% while identifying a patient having CD4 + count \leq 350 cells/µL is 2%.

Table 3.3 The symptoms and signs predictive of the need to start HAART treatment (CD4 + count \leq 200 cells/µL)

Clinical Indicator	CD4 <200 (%) N=73	CD4 ≥200 (%) N=45 3	Measure of Association OR (95% CI)	p- value	Adjusted Measure of Association OR(95%CI)	p value
<u>On History:</u>						
Pain or difficulty with swallowing	9 (13)	88(2 0)	0.6 (0.3-1.2)	0.173	0.4(0.2-1.2)	0.095
Fever > 1 month	3 (4)	10(2)	1.9 (0.5-7.2)	0.329	0.3(0.1-4.6)	0.415
Cough > 1 month	11 (15)	32(7)	2.5 (1.2-5.3)	0.014	2.6(1.2-5.6)	0.017
History of TB	7 (10)	21(5)	2.2 (0.9-5.4)	0.081	1.7(0.5-5.7)	0.355
Night sweats > 1 month	5 (7)	21(5)	1.5 (0.6- 4.2)	0.405	0.8(0.2-4.4)	0.866
History of Generalized body rash	10(14)	27(6)	2.5 (1.2- 5.5)	0.018	2.9(1.3-6.7)	0.011
Persistent genital or oral sores >1 month	3 (4)	6(1)	3.2 (0.8-13.3)	0.102	0.6(0.1-13.6)	0.725
Diarrhoea > 1 month	3 (4)	6(1)	3.2 (0.8-13.3)	0.102	4.9(1.4-50.7)	0.179
On Examination:						
Oral thrush (candida)	7(10)	16(4)	2.9 (1.2-7.4)	0.022	2.6(1.1-6.9)	0.047
Swollen glands in the neck or axillae	11(15)	56 (12)	1.3 (0.6-2.6)	0.492	0.9(0.4-2.5)	0.955
Substantial unintentional wt loss	10 (5)	15(3)	1.7 (0.6-5.4)	0.228	1.3(0.1-45.6)	0.873
Fatigue (general body malaise)	4 (6)	6(1)	4.4 (1.2-15.9)	0.025	4.9(1.4-18.1)	0.015
Pallor	2 (3)	4 (1)	3.2 (0.6-17.8)	0.184	1.1(0.1-26.9)	0.931
Dehydration	2 (3)	1(1)	12.9 (1.2- 144.3)	0.038	14.6(1.3- 163.8)	0.030
Generalized skin rash	5 (7)	8 (2)	4.2 (1.3-13.3)	0.014	3.6 (1.1-11.8)	0.034

3.5 Symptoms and/or signs associated with CD4 + count < 200 and < 350 cells/ μ L.

We conducted an analysis to determine the symptoms and signs that predict the need for HAART initiation in this study population (Table 3.3). In a univariate logistic regression analysis, cough > 1 month, history of tuberculosis, history of generalized body rash, persistent genital or oral sores > 1 month, diarrhoea > 1 month, oral thrush, herpes zoster, general body malaise, dehydration and generalized skin rash were associated with CD4 + count < 200 cells/µL. The significant symptoms/signs persistently predicting CD4 + count < 200 cells/µL at a multivariate model were dehydration (OR= 14.6), skin rash (OR= 3.6), candida (OR = 2.6), cough>1 month (OR= 2.6) and history of generalized body rash (OR= 2.9). The model was adequate and there were no interaction terms detected.

Table 3.4. The distribution of CD 4 + counts at a cut – off \leq 350 cells/µL and clinical indicators that remained significant in predicting CD4 count < 350 cells/µL.

Clinical Indicator	CD4 <350 (%)	CD4 ≥350 (%)	Measure of Association OR	p- value	Adjusted Measure of Association OR(95%CI)	p value
	N=73	N=453	(95% CI)			
On History:	34 (16)	63 (20)	0.8 (0.5-1.3)	0.329	0.7(0.4-1.2)	0.157
Pain or difficulty with swallowing						
Fever > 1 month	7 (3)	6 (28)	1.8 (0.6-5.5)	0.288	0.6(0.1-3.2)	0.542
Cough >1 month	23 (11)	20 (6)	1.9 (1-3.5)	0.050	1.8(0.8-4.4)	0.172
History of TB	17 (8)	11(3)	2.5 (1.1-5.4)	0.021	2.4(1.1-5.2)	0.034
Night sweats > 1 month	10 (5)	16 (5)	1 (0.4- 2.1)	0.918	0.6(0.2-2.1)	0.464
History of generalized body rash	18 (9)	19 (6)	1.5 (0.8- 2.9)	0.236	1.2(0.4-3.1)	0.758
Persistent genital oral sores >1 month	4(2)	5(2)	1.2 (0.3-4.6)	0.757	0.2(0.1-3.7)	0.293
Diarrhoea > 1 month	5(2)	4(1)	1.9 (0.5-7.3)	0.326	1.3(0.2-10.8)	0.782
On Examination:						
Oral thrush (candida)	16 (8)	7 (2)	3.7 (1.5-9.2)	0.004	3.2 (1.2-7.9)	0.015
Swollen glands in the neck or axillae	30 (14)	37 (12)	1.3 (0.8-2.2)	0.338	1.1(0.6-2.2)	0.706
Substantial unintentional wt loss	10 (5)	9 (3)	1.8 (0.7-4.4)	0.228	1.8(0.4-7.4)	0.401
Fatigue (general body malaise)	6(3)	4(1)	2.3(0.7-8.4)	0.191	1.2(0.2-9.5)	0.833
Pallor	4(2)	2(1)	3.1(0.6-17.1)	0.193	2.3(0.1-36.9)	0.558
Herpes Zoster	6 (8)	17 (4)	2.3 (0.9-6.1)	0.086	0.2(0.1-2.3)	0.200
Generalized skin rash	10 (5)	3 (1)	5.4 (1.5-19.7)	0.012	4.5 (1.2-17.0)	0.026

We again conducted an analysis to determine the symptoms and signs which where still useful in predicting the need for treatment at higher CD4 + counts such as CD4 + count \leq 350 cells/µL, a threshold level recently recommended by WHO for starting HAART (Table 3.4). At a significance level of 0.2 in a univariate analysis, cough for more than one month, history of tuberculosis, generalized body rash, oral thrush, general body malaise, pallor, herpes zoster and generalized skin rash were the symptoms and signs predicting CD4 + count < 350 cells/µL. The significant symptoms/signs persistently predicting CD4 + count < 350cells/µL at a multivariate model were, candida (OR= 3.2) and generalized skin rash (OR = 4.5) and history of tuberculosis (OR= 2.4). The final model was found to be adequate with no interacting symptoms and signs in predicting CD4 + count 350 cells/µL.

3.6 Sensitivity and specificity of modified clinical staging

We conducted an analysis of sensitivity and specificity on clinical features that predicted CD4 + count < 200 and < 350 cells/µL on adjusted analyses.

Table 3.5 Sensitivity, Specificity, PPV and NPV for the indicators for multivariate significant variables at CD4 + count cut-off 200 cells/µL and 350 cells/µL.

Clinical	CD 4 Count (no. of subjects)		Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV
Indicators	<200 (N=73)	>200(N=453)	[Percent(95 % CI)]	[Percent(95 % CI)]	[Percen t(95% CI)]	[Percent(95% CI)]
Generalized skin rash	5 (7%)	8 (2%)	7(2-15)	98(97-99)	38(14- 68)	88(84- 90)
Oral thrush	7(10%)	16(4%)	10(3-19)	96(94-98)	30(13- 53)	87(84- 90)
Dehydration	2(3%)	1(1%)	3(1-9)	99(98- 99.9)	67(10- 90)	86(83- 89)
	<350 (N=208)	>350(N=318)				
Generalized skin rash	10 (5%)	3 (1%)	5(2-9)	99(97- 99.8)	76(46- 95)	62(57- 66)
Oral thrush	4 (2%)	6 (2%)	2(1-5)	98(96-99)	40(12- 74)	60(56- 65)
History of TB	17(8%)	11(3%)	8(5-13)	97(94-98)	61(41- 78)	62(57- 66)

Table 3.5 shows low sensitivity and low positive predictive values of the symptoms and signs that predict CD4 + count < 200 cells/ μ L. The specificity and negative predictive values were fairly high. These clinical features were significant on adjusted analysis. Oral thrush (candida) has the highest sensitivity (10%) of the three clinical features. Table 3.5 further shows generally a low sensitivity of the clinical features in predicting CD4 + count < 350 cells/ μ L. The positive predictive values increased at the CD4 + count threshold of 350

cells/ μ L while the NPV decreased in comparison to those of the CD4 + count threshold of 200 cells/ μ L. Sensitivity decreased for generalized skin rash while specificity increased.

Chapter 4: Discussion

We set out to investigate which signs and symptoms were commonly associated with HIV infection that could be used to best predict immunosuppression among asymptomatic HIV infected women in South Africa, and therefore the need for HAART. We hypothesized that the use of WHO clinical staging alone is feasible and appropriate to determine those eligible for HAART in a South African setting. Our hypothesis was not confirmed. Overall there was a very low sensitivity and specificity of the WHO clinical staging in identifying those in need of HAART initiation.

4.1 Percentage of HAART eligible patients not detected by WHO criteria

This analysis adds more information on the currently available limited data on how well the WHO HIV clinical staging criteria performs in correctly identifying patients needing HAART. Our data have shown that WHO clinical staging is a poor substitute for CD4 + count determination.

In this study of HIV positive women recruited from the community, 98.8% were in WHO clinical stages I and II and had a median CD4 + count of 405 cells/ μ L (IQR: 279, 588).These results reveal that even in this relatively healthy group 14% had CD4 + count < 200 cells/ μ L and required treatment. They would have been deferred HAART treatment on the basis of WHO staging alone. A recent study (Kagaayi et al, 2007) conducted in Rakai, Uganda, showed that 49% of patients with CD4 + count < 200 cells/ μ L were classified as WHO stage I/ II. Other studies from Uganda and Ethiopia have had similar findings where between 27-49% of patients assessed as WHO stage I/II had CD4 + count < 200 cells/ μ L and would not have been started on treatment on clinical assessment alone (Kassa, 1999; Jaffar, 2008).This

could be because of low symptom recognition, other concurrent illnesses, lack of access to diagnosis and poor training of health care providers.

4.2 Performance of WHO criteria to predict initiation of HAART

This study showed that WHO clinical staging had sensitivity, specificity, PPV and NPV of 4%,99%,50% and 87% respectively in predicting CD4 + T-cell count <200 cells/µL. Several studies (French,1996; Costello,2005; Martinson,2005; Kagaayi,2007 and Jaffar,2008) also found a low sensitivity of 76%; 31.8%; 24%; 51%; and 52%, respectively in various settings, all indicating weakness of WHO clinical staging to accurately predict initiation of HAART in poorly-resourced countries.

In the study by French (1999) he found 76% sensitivity and 65% specificity for predicting a CD4+ T-cell count <200 cells/ μ L, positive predictive value of 56%, negative predictive value 78%. These results are similar to the current study in terms of PPV and NPV. The low sensitivity in our current analysis can best be explained by the fact that most of our patients were asymptomatic and were predominantly in the early WHO clinical stages; and the fact that CD 4 + counts were taken from those who were in WHO clinical stages I/II as per protocol of the main clinical trial.

Another study done in Uganda (Jaffar et al, 2008) found that the sensitivity, specificity, positive and negative predictive values predicting CD 4 + T-cell count <200 cells/ μ L was found to be 52% (95% CI 50, 54%), 68% (95% CI 66, 70%), 64% and 56% respectively. A bigger sample size for the study by Jaffar (N= 4302) could explain a narrower confidence

intervals as opposed to our rather smaller sample size (N=526) which led to our wider confidence intervals and hence less precision.

A study done in Thailand (Costello et al, 2005) among women found that the December 2003 WHO guidelines had a sensitivity of 31.8% to detect persons with a CD4 + count < 200 cells/µL in this HIV-infected population. This is clearly a low sensitivity as well. However the use of a TLC <1500 cells/µl or TLC < 2000 cells/µL combined with anaemia or WHO stage II infection doubled the sensitivity to detect persons with a CD4 count < 200 cells/µL (63.0% in men, 68.2% in women) with less than a 6 % decrease in specificity. The Costello study combined the various threshold points of TLC (TLC < 1500 cells/µL or TLC <2000 cells/µL or <1800 cells/µL) combined with anaemia and BMI to determine the sensitivity and specificity of WHO staging in predicting CD4 + count < 200 cells/µL and < 350 cells/µL. This combination doubled the sensitivity of WHO criteria to predict CD 4 < 200 cells/µL and < 350 cells/µL. Our data, in contrast, utilized the WHO classification criteria (symptoms and signs) only to determine CD4 + count < 200 cells/µL and < 350 cells/µL and had a low sensitivity though high specificity, indicating the limitation of WHO staging for screening people who are clinically well as compared to those who are debilitated for treatment eligibility.

Our data have shown that the WHO staging is useful for identifying those with obvious symptoms and signs (i.e. clinically ill) who need treatment but not so useful for clinically well people who would also benefit from treatment. It thus follows from our data that clinical assessment alone among the HIV positive from the general population has proved to be weak in identifying eligible persons for HAART. This is in agreement with earlier reports that suggested a combination of routine, affordable parameters like TLC, haemoglobin and BMI

to the clinical parameters to further improve the sensitivity and specificity of WHO clinical staging system. (Costello et al, 2005).

Kagaayi et al (2007) in Uganda also showed that the sensitivity to predict CD4 + count of 200 cells/ μ L or less was 51% and specificity was 88 %. The positive predictive value was 64 % and the negative predictive value was 81%.Clinical criteria missed half the patients with CD4 + cell counts of 200 cells/ μ L or less, highlighting the importance of CD4 + cell measurements for the scale-up of ART provision in resource-limited settings. This is another evidence for the weakness of such a tool in identifying those eligible for treatment. Of careful note here is that Kagaayi analysed data on patients seen in the Rakai Health Sciences Programme (RHSP) community-based ART programme to assess whether WHO clinical stages III/IV could be used to identify individuals with CD4 + cell counts of 200 cells/ μ L or less. This implies that these clinical stages were already advanced (i.e. stages III/IV) as opposed to our data which had patients in clinical stages I/II.

Martinson N et al (2005) conducted a study in primary healthcare facilities in South Africa which showed that 24% of patients classified as WHO stage I and 46% classified as stage II had CD4 + cell counts of 200 cells/ μ L or less. A substantial proportion of stages I and II cases would not have been initiated on ART if therapy was based on clinical criteria alone. This finding is a further evidence of the inability of WHO clinical criteria alone in identifying asymptomatic infected persons from the general community who are eligible for HAART.

4.3 Symptoms and signs significantly predicting HAART initiation (i.e. CD 4 < 200 cells/ μ L) according to the current South African guidelines

In this study the identified clinical indicators for CD4 + count < 200 cells/ μ L after adjusting for all factors were generalized skin rash, dehydration and oral thrush (candida). We note that patients likely to seek care for these conditions may not know their HIV status; and these conditions are strong predictors of need for treatment. Amirali et al (2004) also identified exactly the same symptoms and signs among hospitalized HIV positive patients in Hindu-Mandal Hospital in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania, consistent with our findings in these women from the general community in Johannesburg. South Africa.

The finding of a non - specific generalized skin rash on examination was associated with low CD4 + count (OR= 4.2, 95% CI:1-13). This is consistent with a study by Bakari et al (2003) among 716 police officers in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. Bakari found that among 191 police officers, 26.7% had at least one skin diagnosis. HIV-infected police officers had significantly higher prevalence of skin diseases than HIV-uninfected police officers (42% vs 26%, p = 0.002). The authors also found that PPE, herpes zoster and KS strongly suggested underlying HIV-related immunodeficiency.

Mbuagbaw et al (2004) studied the patterns of skin manifestations and their relationships with CD4 + counts among 384 HIV/AIDS patients in Cameroon. The authors found that up to 264 (68.8%) patients presented with at least one type of skin problem. Generalized prurigo, oral candidiasis, herpes zoster, and vaginal candidiasis were the most common skin problems associated with mean CD4 + count (128 ± 85 cells/µL) and mean viral load (79,433 copies/mL) (P < 0.001).Generalized skin rash was associated with lower mean CD4 + cell counts (78 ± 66 cells/µL, P < 0.001).

A study by Machekano et al (2002) among 447 HIV – infected men in Zimbabwe to determine the clinical signs and symptoms in the assessment of immunodeficiency in men with HIV infection in Harare showed that skin infections and enlarged lymph nodes had the strongest prognostic effect in all the models considered. In the current study generalized skin rash remained significant at both CD4 + count threshold of 200 and 350 cells/ μ L confirming its importance in immunosupressed persons. In the same study Machekano (2002) indicates that skin infections were more than twice as likely to be reported in patients with CD4 + counts < 200 cells/ μ L compared to patients with CD4 + cell counts >200 cells/ μ L.Skin manifestation as a generalized rash is a strong marker of severe immunosuppression in the multivariate models in the current study at both thresholds of CD 4 + counts 200 and 350 cells/ μ L.

The possible explanation for skin manifestation being common at low CD4 + count is due to altered normal flora along side immunodeficiency. Other mechanisms could be auto immune phenomena like vitiligo, alopecia, etc which are predominantly due to immune dysregulation seen in HIV at low CD4 + count (Cho M, 1995). The other explanation could be a systemic immune dysfunction, as seen in HIV infection, where the influx of CD4 + lymphocytes to the perifollicular regions of skin when the CD4/CD8 ratio is low leads to skin inflammation (Stewart, 1993).

Dehydration was an additional clinical feature not strictly in WHO criteria but was found to be significant in predicting CD4 + count < 200 cells/ μ L in this study population. Although it featured in our adjusted analyses it was based on a small number of patients (4 out of over 500). The possible explanation for dehydration in HIV infection is due anorexia, dysphagia and chronic diarrhea. Oral thrush was found to predict both CD4 + counts < 200 and < 350 cells/ μ L.It is a marker of HIV infection that is bound to occur especially during advanced stage of immunosupression (Carré et al, 1998). Oropharyngeal candidiasis is the most common fungal and opportunistic infection in human immunodeficiency virus - infected individuals, affecting nearly 90% of subjects at some stage during the course of HIV disease progression (De Repentigny et al, 2004).

In this study oral thrush was identified to predict CD4 + counts at both thresholds of < 200 and < 350 cells/µL.This is concordant with other reports (Carré et al 1998; Munoz-Perez, 2002 and Sud et al, 2009). In the study by Carré among homosexual men, the occurrence of oral thrush at a CD 4 + count > 200 cells/µL signifies that oral thrush remained an important risk factor, underlining the predictive value of clinical signs at CD4 + count higher than 200 cells/µL. In another study by Erkose (2007) it was reported that 53/64 i.e. (83%) HIV infected patients were colonized by oral candida in Istanbul, Turkey. This study shows no correlation between CD 4 + count and oral candidiasis although they report a high prevalence of oral candida colonization (83%) in their study population. However he noted, from his study of 64 HIV individuals, that the failure to show an association may be explained by his small sample size and hence less statistical power.

In one study in Zimbabwe, oral candidiasis was the most common lesion diagnosed in nearly one quarter of 320 HIV-infected women. It was also shown that of those with oral candidiasis, one-third of them had a CD4 + count < 200 cells/ μ L. (Chidzonga et al, 2008). Mbuagbaw et al (2004) also found that in Cameroon oral candidiasis was associated with CD 4 count < 200 cells/ μ L (p<0.02).

So far these studies show contrasting findings with regard to relationship between CD 4+ counts and oral thrush. The most important message here, however, is that as oral thrush

occurs in both patients with CD4 + > 200 and as well as in CD 4+ < 200 it lacks specifity as a sign of AIDS. Thrush (candidiasis) is seen at these levels of CD 4 + counts because patients often develop dysregulated cytokine production, a dysfunction in the local oral immunity, superimposed on a weakened cell-mediated immunity and depletion of CD4 + T cells (Egusa,2008). The role of defective dendritic cells and CD4 + T cells in impaired induction of protective immunity has been documented as the pathogenesis of thrush (de Repentigny, 2009).

4.4 Symptoms and signs significantly predicting HAART initiation (i.e. CD 4 < 350 cells/ μ L) according to the new WHO recommendation

Generalized skin rash, history of tuberculosis and oral thrush were the symptoms and signs that predicted CD4 + counts < 350 cells/ μ L after a multivariate analysis. It is observed that generalized skin rash remained significant at both CD4 + count thresholds of 200 and 350 cells/ μ L. This finding signifies that dermatological manifestations are an early and important clue of significant immunosupression (Bakari et al 2003).

History of TB was an important predictor if treatment is to be initated at higher CD4 + count levels. HIV infection and related opportunistic infections, particularly tuberculosis and upper respiratory tract infections, have become the leading cause of death in much of sub-Saharan Africa (Machekano R, 2002).Machekano also noted that currently, most health care providers have limited access to laboratory diagnosis and monitoring of HIV infection. They rely heavily on clinical manifestations of the disease.

Literature shows a challenge of making a diagnosis of tuberculosis at the CD4 + cell count threshold of < 200 cells/µL (Mtei, 2005). This analysis has indicated a history of tuberculosis to predict CD4 + count < 350 cells/µL. This is a further evidence of the relative easiness of making a diagnosis of TB at a CD4 + count >200 cells/µL. A study conducted in Malawi (Zachariah R et al, 2005) showed that pulmonary TB was present in 98% (51/52) among HIV positive individuals presenting with and without WHO defining diseases, among those having CD4 + count < 350 cells/µL. Tuberculosis was also noted by another researcher in Tanzania (Mtei, 2005) to be present while CD4 + count was still above 200 cells/µL, a finding that is concordant with this study. Narain (2004) showed that HIV is considered to be the most important risk factor to progression to active TB among those infected both with TB and HIV. As a result, TB is the most common life threatening opportunistic infection associated with HIV, and the biggest cause of death among patients with HIV. The deadly relationship between HIV and TB results from each potentiating the effect of the other. In the context of this analysis, the relationship between TB and HIV is an important finding.

4.5 Practical Implications for Screening for a History of TB.

Our data has shown that cough > 1 month was significant in predicting CD4 + count < 200 cells/µL while a history of TB predicted CD4 + count < 350 cells/µL.HIV infection is therefore a risk factor for TB disease (Tribble,2009). The implications for screening for a history of TB are for diagnosis and treatment among TB/HIV co-infected. The following are measures (MMWR/CDC, 1998) are implied:

1. Early diagnosis and effective treatment of TB among HIV-infected patients are critical for curing TB, minimizing the negative effects of TB on the course of HIV, and interrupting the transmission of Mycobacterium tuberculosis to other persons in the community.

2. All HIV-infected persons at risk for infection with M. tuberculosis must be carefully evaluated and, if indicated, administered therapy to prevent the progression of latent infection to active TB disease and avoid the complications associated with HIV-related TB.

3. All HIV-infected patients undergoing treatment for TB should be evaluated for antiretroviral therapy, because most patients with HIV-related TB are candidates for concurrent administration of antituberculosis and antiretroviral drug therapies. However, the use of rifampin with protease inhibitors or non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors is contraindicated.

4. Missed opportunities for HIV treatment at the time of TB treatment is a common phenomenon underscoring the need for integration of TB and HIV diagnostic services (Tribble, 2009).

Chapter 5: Strengths and Limitations

5.1 The strengths of this study

These include:

- 1. The data are not hospital based.
- 2. A study population was recruited from the general population and so it was a generally healthy population, thus giving a picture of what is the situation of the need among the HIV infected in the general population.

5.2 Limitations of the study

- The study population comprised of women solely who are HIV-1 seropositive and HSV-2 co-infected; thus may not be generalizable to other HIV only infected women in the general population, men or children.
- 2. Rarity of some important symptoms and signs as the study population was still asymptomatic.
- 3. Measurement (information) bias. The low index of suspicion of some clinical features e.g. oral hairy leukoplakia (Schiødt, 1990) which are normally not frequently detected by clinicians during physical examination. This could lead to underestimate the number of symptoms/signs that predict CD4 + count < 200 cells/µL.</p>
- 4. Very few patients were in WHO clinical stages III/IV. The small numbers in this category could make some associations to be due to chance and lead to a lack of accuracy in sensitivity calculations.

5. Biases of the recruitment and the exclusion: Patients in WHO stages I/II only had their CD 4 + count measured at the screening phase of the clinical trial. Patients with WHO clinical stages III/IV were immediately referred for treatment. This led to a majority of the study population analysed being in WHO stages I/II.

Chapter 6: Conclusions and Recommendations

In summary, these results show that the WHO clinical staging is inadequate as a tool to predict the need for initiating ART in a population of women who are still asymptomatic. If clinical staging is used alone as many as 13% of women would have gone untreated. Initiation of HAART would have been deferred in these patients until they reached a more advanced HIV clinical stage when treatment outcomes are likely to be less successful (Wilkin, 2008). This study shows that certain signs are strongly associated with the need to initiate treatment. These conditions are relatively infrequent in the general population, but when observed should alert clinicians to the need for treatment in these patients. Of interest was the finding that a history of TB is strongly associated with a CD4 < 350 cells/µL and that this may be a useful indicator for initiating HIV treatment in a South African population.

Given the fact that the HIV incidence is still rising it can be expected that the health care facilities will be over burdened in the near future by HIV and the associated opportunistic infections in the near future. (Dorrington, 2004, Kober K and Van Damme W, 2004). From this study, we therefore suggest encouraging more HIV positive people to come forward for treatment through intensifying campaigns for VCT for early diagnosis and treatment. Those eligible will be identified and brought to treatment as early as possible.

Given the findings of this study it is recommended that CD4 + count testing should be the most reliable indicator of when to start treatment. Where testing is restricted:

- 1. CD 4 + count measurements could be targeted at those without obvious predictors of immunocompromise.
- 2. The overall diagnostic accuracy (i.e. the ability to detect correctly all those who require and do not require HAART) of WHO staging criteria could increase using the

combination of other parameters like BMI, haemoglobin, TLC and an active WHO indicator disease (Zachariah R, 2005; Erhabor, 2006). Simple, inexpensive laboratory determination of haemoglobin, and a non laboratory procedure like BMI determination should be combined with the symptom/signs identified to initiate HAART. The thresholds of such parameters with these identified symptoms and signs predicting CD4 + counts < 350 cells/µL are a subject of the next investigation although not looked at in this study.

We thus conclude by having shown symptoms and signs which best predict the need for HAART initiation in the absence of CD4 + measurement to be generalized skin rash, dehydration and oral thrush (candida).We recommend that clinical assessment alone should not replace CD4 + testing in identifying asymptomatic people in the general population that need treatment by HAART. This calls for more campaign for VCT and more resource allocation in HIV care and treatment.

7.0 References

Abdool Karim Q, Abdool Karim SS, Singh B, Short R, Ngxongo S.Seroprevalence of HIV infection in rural South Africa. *AIDS* 1992; 6(12):1535-9.

Amirali W, Moshiro C, Ramaiya K. Assessment of clinical case-definition for HIV/AIDS in Tanzania. *East Afr Med J.* 2004; 81(5):226-9.

Ananworanich J, A Gayet-Ageron and M Le Braz. CD4-guided scheduled treatment interruptions compared with continuous therapy for patients infected with HIV-1: results of the Staccato randomised trial, *Lancet* 2006; 368 (9534):459-65.

Amornkul PN, Vandenhoudt H, Nasokho P, Odhiambo F, Mwaengo D, Hightower A, Buvé A, Misore A, Vulule J, Vitek C, Glynn J, Greenberg A, Slutsker L, De Cock KM.HIV prevalence and associated risk factors among individuals aged 13-34 years in Rural Western Kenya. *PLoS One*. 2009 4(7):e6470

Aylward RB, Vlahov D, Muñoz A, Rapiti E. Validation of the proposed World Health Organization staging system for disease and infection in a cohort of intravenous drug users. *AIDS*. 1994 8(8):1129-33. Bakari M, Lyamuya E, Mugusi F, Aris E, Chale S, Magao P, Josiah R, Moshi A, Swai A, Pallangyo N, Sandstrom E, Mhalu F, Biberfeld G, Pallangyo K. The prevalence and pattern of skin diseases in relation to CD4 counts among HIV-infected police officers in Dar es Salaam. *Trop Doct.* 2003; 33(1):44-8.

Bakari M, Pallangyo K, Kitinya J, Mbena E, Urassa W. The importance of clinical features in differentiating HIV-related from non HIV-related Kaposi's sarcoma: Experience from Dar es salaam, Tanzania. *Trop Doct.* 1996; 26(3):104-7.

Belperio PS, Rhew DC. Prevalence and outcomes of anemia in individuals with human immunodeficiency virus: a systematic review of the literature. *Am J Med.* 2004; 116 (Suppl):27S–43S.

Berkley S, Naamara W, Okware S, Downing R, Konde-Lule J, Wawer M, Musagaara M, Musgrave S. AIDS and HIV infection in Uganda--are more women infected than men? *AIDS.1990; 4(12):1237-42.*

Boivin G, Gaudreau A, Routy JP. Evaluation of the human herpes virus 8 DNA load in blood and Kaposi's sarcoma skin lesions from AIDS patients on highly active antiretroviral therapy. *AIDS* 2000; 14(13):1907-10.

Brodt HR, Casabona J, Chêne G, Costagliola D, Dabis F, Monforte AD, del Amo J, de Wolf F, Egger M, Fätkenheuer G, Gill J, Guest J, Hogg R, Justice A, Kitahata M, Lampe F, Ledergerber B, Mocroft A, Reiss P, Saag M. Timing of initiation of antiretroviral therapy in AIDS-free HIV-1-infected patients: a collaborative analysis of 18 HIV cohort studies. *Lancet.* 2009; 373(9672):1352-63.

Carré N, F Boufassaa, JB Huberta, M Chavanceb, C Rouziouxc, C Goujardd, Y Lauriane, L Meyera and the SEROCO & HEMOCO Study Groups. Predictive value of viral load and other markers for progression to clinical AIDS after CD4+ cell count falls below 200/µL. *Int J Epidemiol.* 1998; 27(5):897-903.

Cho M,Cohen PR, Duvic M. Vitiligo and alopecia areata in patients with HIV infection. *South Med J.* 1995; 88(4):489-91. Review.

Coleman RL, Wilkinson D Increasing HIV prevalence in a rural district of South Africa from 1992 through 1995. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol*. 1997; 16(1):50-3.

Connolly C, Shisana O, Colvin M, Stoker D.Epidemiology of HIV in South Africa--results of a national, community-based survey. *S Afr Med J.* 2004; 94(9):776-81.

Costello C, Nelson KE, Jamieson DJ, Spacek L, Sennun S, Tovanabutra S, Rungruengthanakit K, Suriyanon V, A. Predictors of Low CD4 Count in Resource-Limited Settings: Based on an Antiretroviral-Naive Heterosexual Thai Population. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr*. 2005; 39(2):242-8.

Castilla, J Del Romero, V Hernando, B Marincovich, S Garcia and C Rodriguez, Effectiveness of highly active antiretroviral therapy in reducing heterosexual transmission of HIV. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr*. 2005; 40(1):96-101

CDC. Classification system for human T-lymphotropic virus type III/lymphadenopathyassociated virus infections. *MMWR* 1986; 35:334.

Deeks SG, Challenges of developing R5 inhibitors in antiretroviral naive HIV-infected patients, *Lancet*. 2006; 367(9512):711-3

Delany S, Mlaba N, Clayton T, Akpomiemie G, Capovilla A, Legoff J, Belec L, Stevens W, Rees H, Mayaud P.Impact of aciclovir on genital and plasma HIV-1 RNA in HSV-2/HIV-1 co-infected women: a randomized placebo-controlled trial in South Africa.*AIDS*.2009 ;23(4):461-9.

Department of Health, 2005. "National HIV and Syphilis Antenatal Sero-prevalence Survey in South Africa" Retrieved on June 17, 2007 *from www.health.gov.za*.

Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS). Guidelines for the use of antiretroviral agents in HIV-infected adults and adolescents. March 23, 2004. *Available at: http://aidsinfo.nih.gov/guidelines/adult/AA_032304*.

De Repentigny L., Lewandowski D, Jolicoeur P. Immunopathogenesis of Oropharyngeal Candidiasis in Human Immunodeficiency Virus Infection. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* 2004; 17(4): 729–59.

Dorrington RE, Bradshaw D, Johnson L, Budlender D. The Demographic Impact of HIV/AIDS in South Africa. National indicators for 2004. Cape Town: Centre for Actuarial Research, South African Medical Research Council and *Actuarial Society of South Africa*. 2004.

Egger M, May M, Chene G, Phillips AN, Ledergerber B, Dabis F, et al. Prognosis of HIV-1infected patients starting HAART: a collaborative analysis of prospective studies. *Lancet* 2002; 360 (9327):119–129. Egusa H,Soysa NS,Ellepola AN,Yatani H,Samaranayake LP. Oral candidosis in HIVinfected patients. *Curr HIV Res.* 2008 ; 6(6):485-99.

Erhabor O, Uko EK, Adias T. Absolute lymphocyte count as a marker for CD4 Tlymphocyte count: criterion for initiating antiretroviral therapy in HIV infected Nigerians.

Niger J Med. 2006 Jan-Mar; 15(1):56-9.

French, N.; Mujugira, A.; Nakiyingi, J.; Mulder, D.; Janoff, E. N.; Gilks, C. F.Immunologic And Clinical Stages in HIV-1-Infected Ugandan Adults Are Comparable and Provide No Evidence of Rapid Progression but Poor Survival With Advanced Disease. *JAIDS* 1999: Volume 22(5) p 509.

Grant A D, De Cock K M. HIV infection and AIDS in the developing world *BMJ* 2001; 322:1475-1478

Hogg RS, Anis A, Weber AE, O'Shaughnessy MV, Schechter MT. Triple-combination antiretroviral therapy in sub-Saharan Africa. *Lancet*. 1997 volume 350(9088):1406

Jaen A, Esteve A, Montouliu, et al. When is the optimal moment to start HAART in HIV infected patients from PISCIS cohort study (Spain)? The 46th Interscience Conference on Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy; San Francisco, CA, USA; Sept 27–30, 2006. Abstract H-1059.
Jaffar S, Grant A, Whitworth J, Smith P, Whittle H. The natural history of HIV-1 and HIV-2 infections in adults in Africa: a literature review. *Bull World Health Organ vol.*82 no.6 Geneva June 2004

Jaffar S, Birungi J, Grosskurth H, Amuron B, Namara G, Nabiryo C, Coutinho
A. Use of WHO clinical stage for assessing patient eligibility to antiretroviral therapy in a routine health service setting in Jinja, Uganda. *AIDS Res Ther* 2008; (5):4

Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS). World Health Organization (WHO). AIDS Epidemic Update. UNAIDS/WHO, Geneva, Switzerland, 2003.

Kagaayi J, Makumbi F, Nakigozi G, Wawer MJ, Gray RH, Serwadda D, and Reynolds SJ: WHO HIV clinical staging or CD4 cell counts for antiretroviral therapy eligibility assessment? An evaluation in rural Rakai district, Uganda. *AIDS* 2007, 21(9):1208-1210.

Kaplan JE, Hanson DL, Cohn DL, Karon J, Buskin S, Thompson M, et al. When to begin highly active antiretroviral therapy? Evidence supporting initiation of therapy at CD4+ lymphocyte counts < 350 cells/microl. *Clin Infect Dis* 2003; 37:951–958.

Kassa E, Rinke de Wit TF, Hailu E, Girma M, Messele T, Mariam HG, Yohannes S, Jurriaans S, Yeneneh H, Coutinho RA, Fontanet ALEvaluation of the World Health Organization staging system for HIV infection and disease in Ethiopia: association between clinical stages and laboratory markers. *AIDS*. 1999 Feb 25; 13(3):381-9.

Katabira ET, Epidemiology and management of diarrhoeal disease in HIV infected patients *Int J Infect Dis 1999*; volume 3 (3): 164-167.

Keiser O, Orrell C, Egger M, Wood R, Brinkhof MWG, Furrer H, van Cutsem G, Ledergerber B, Boulle. A Public-Health and Individual Approaches to Antiretroviral Therapy: Township South Africa and Switzerland Compared. *PLoS Med* 2008 volume 5(7): e148 doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.0050148.

Kober K and Van Damme W. Scaling up access to antiretroviral treatment in southern Africa: who will do the job? *The Lancet* 2004 Volume 364(9428),

Kumarasamy N, Solomon S, Madhivanan P, Ravikumar B, Thyagarajan SP, Yesudian P. Dermatologic manifestations among human immunodeficiency virus patients in south India. *Int J Dermatol.* 2000 Mar; 39(3):192-5

Lifson AR, Allen S, Wolf W, Serufilira A, Kantarama G, Lindan CP, Hudes ES, Nsengumuremyi F, Taelman H, Batungwanayo J, 1995. Classification of HIV infection and disease in women from Rwanda. Evaluation of the World Health Organization HIV staging system and recommended modifications. *Ann Intern Med* 122: 262–270

Louwagie GM, Bachmann MO, Meyer K, le R Booysen F, Fairall LR, and Heunis C Highly active antiretroviral treatment and health related quality of life in South African adults with human immunodeficiency virus infection: A cross-sectional analytical study. *BMC Public Health* 2007,7: 244.

Lynen L, Thai S, De Munter P, Leang B, Sokkab A, Schrooten W, Huyst V, Kestens L, Colebunders R, Menten J, van den Ende J: The Added Value of a CD4 Count to Identify Patients Eligible for Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy Among HIV-Positive Adults in Cambodia. *JAcquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2006, 42(3):322-324

Machekano R , Bassett M, McFarland W, Katzenstein D, Clinical Signs and Symptoms in the Assessment of Immunodeficiency in Men with Subtype C HIV Infection in Harare, Zimbabwe. HIV Clin Trials 2002; 3(2):148–154.

Malamba SS, Morgan D, Clayton T, Mayanja B, Okongo M, Whitworth J. The prognostic value of the World Health Organisation staging system for HIV infection and disease in rural Uganda. *AIDS* 1999 Dec 24; 13(18):2555-62.

Martinson N, Heyer A, Steyn J, Struthers H, McIntyre J, Gray G, Pronyk P. Does WHO clinical stage reliably predict who should receive ARV treatment? In: *3rd IAS Conference on HIV Pathogenesis and Treatment. Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, 24-27 July 2005.*

Mbuagbaw J, Isaac E, Alemnji G, Mpoudi N, Albert Same-Ekobo. Patterns of skin manifestations and their relationships with CD4 counts among HIV/AIDS patients in Cameroon. *Int J Derm* 2006; 45 (3), 280–284

Mindel A, Tenant-Flowers M. ABC of AIDS: Natural history and management of early HIV infection. *BMJ*. 2001; 322(7297):1290-3.

MMWR Recomm Rep. 1998; 47(RR-20):1-58.

Mocroft A, Kirk O, Barton SE, et al. Anaemia is an independent predictive marker for clinical prognosis in HIV-infected patients from across Europe. *AIDS*. *1999; 13:943–950*.

Moyle G. Anaemia in persons with HIV infection: Prognostic Marker and contributor to Morbidity. *AIDS Rev* 2000; 4.

Mtei L,Matee M,herfort O,Bakari M,Horsburg C,wadell R,cole B,Vuola J, Tvaroha S, Kreiswirth B, Pallangyo K, von Reyn F High Rates of Clinical and Subclinical Tuberculosis among HIV-Infected Ambulatory Subjects in Tanzania. *Clin Inf Dis* 2005; 40:1500–1507.

Muñoz-Pérez MA, Rodriguez-Pichardo A, Camacho F, Colmenero MA.Dermatological findings correlated with CD4 lymphocyte counts in a prospective 3 year study of 1161 patients with human immunodeficiency virus disease predominantly acquired through intravenous drug abuse. *Br J Dermatol.* 1998; 139(1):33-9.

National Department of Health: National Antiretroviral Treatment Guidelines. South Africa 2004 First edition page 2. Retrieved on July 4, 2008 from

http://www.hst.org.za/uploads/files/sa_ART_Guidelines1.pdf.

Nicoli Nattrass, South Africa's Rollout of Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy: A Critical Assessment. *J of Acq Immunodef syndr:*_2006;43: 515: 618-623.

Newman C, Bonar M, Greville H, Thompson S, Bessarab D, Kippax S. Barriers and incentives to HIV treatment uptake among Aboriginal people in Western Australia. *AIDS*, vol. 21, 2007.

Pettifor AE, Rees HV, Kleinschmidt I, Steffenson AE, MacPhail C, Hlongwa-Madikizela L, Vermaak K, Padian NS. Young people's sexual health in South Africa: HIV prevalence and sexual behaviors from a nationally representative household survey. *AIDS*. 2005 19(14):1525-34.

Post F. A., Wood R. Pillay G. P. Pulmonary tuberculosis in HIV infection: radiographic appearance is related to CD4 - T- lymphocyte count. *Tubercle and Lung Dis* 1995 76 (6): 518-521

Rosales CM, McLaughlin MD, Sata T, et al. AIDS presenting with cutaneous Kaposi's sarcoma and bacillary angiomatosis in the bone marrow mimicking Kaposi's sarcoma. *AIDS Patient Care STDS* 2002; 16: 573–577.

Sattya SAV, Singh VP, Sundar S, Gulati AK, Varma DV, Rai M, Relationship Between Skin Diseases and CD 4 Cell Counts in a Hospital-based Cohort of HIVinfected Adults in North India. *J Indian Acad Clin Med* 2008; 9(1):20-5

Schiødt M, Bakilana PB, Hiza JF, Shao JF, Bygbjerg IB, Mbaga I, Vestergaard BF, Nielsen CM, Lauritzen E, Lerche B, et al. Oral candidiasis and hairy

leukoplakia correlate with HIV infection in Tanzania. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1990 May; 69(5):591-6.

Schupbach J, Boni J, Flepp M, Tomasik Z, Joller H, Opravil M. Antiretroviral treatment monitoring with an improved HIV-1 p24 antigen test: an inexpensive alternative to tests for viral RNA. *J Med Virol* 2001; 65: 225-232.

Shannon K, Bright V, Duddy J, Tyndall M. Access and Utilization of HIV
Treatment and Services among Women Sex Workers in Vancouver's Downtown
Eastside. J Urban Health: *Bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine* 2005; 82
(3).

Shisana O, Hall E, Maluleke KR , Stoker DJ , Schwabe C, Colvin M , Chauveau J, Botha C, Gumede T , Fomundam H, , Shaikh N, Rehle T , Gisselquist E U The impact of HIV/AIDS on the health sector national survey of health personnel, ambulatory and hospitalized patients and health facilities,2002 Downloaded on 19th March 2008 from:http://www.sahara.org.za/index.php/Download-document/102-The-Impact-of-HIV-AIDS-on-the-Health-Sector.html

Shisana O, Rehle T,Simbayi IC, Parker W, Zuma K, Bhana A, Connolly C, Jooste S, Pillay V et al.(2005) South African National HIV Prevalence, HIV Incidence, Behaviour and Communication Survey,2005.Cape Town.HSRC Press

Steinbrook R. The AIDS Epidemic in 2004. The N Engl J of Med, 351(2):115-117.

Sterne J, May M, Costagliola D. Estimating the optimum CD4 threshold for starting HAART in ART-naive HIV-infected individuals. *13th Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunisitic Infections*; Denver, CO, USA; Feb 5–8, 2006. Abstract S87–525.

Stewart MI, Smoller BR. Alopecia universalis in an HIV-positive patient: possible insight into pathogenesis *J Cutan Pathol*. 1993 Apr; 20(2):180-3.

Sud N, Shanker V, Sharma A, Sharma NL, Gupta M. Mucocutaneous manifestations in 150 HIV-infected Indian patients and their relationship with CD4 lymphocyte counts. *Int J STD AIDS*. 2009 Sep 24 [Epub ahead of print]

Sullivan PS, Hanson DL, Chu SY, et al. Adult/Adolescent Spectrum of Disease Group. Epidemiology of anemia in human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-infected persons: results from the multistate Adult and Adolescent Spectrum of HIV Disease Surveillance Project. *Blood.* 1998; 91:301–308. Torpey , M Lartey , R Amenyah , N A Addo, J Obeng-Baah , Y Rahman , C Suzuki , Y D Mukadi and R Colebunders Initiating antiretroviral treatment in a resource-constrained setting: does clinical staging effectively identify patients in need? *Int J STD AIDS*. 2009 ; 20(6):395-8.

Tribble AC, Hamilton CD, Crump JA, Mgonja A, Mtalo A, Ndanu E, Itemba DK, Landman KZ, Shorter M, Ndosi EM, Shao JF, Bartlett JA, Thielman NM. Missed opportunities for diagnosis of tuberculosis and human immunodeficiency virus co-infection in Moshi, Tanzania. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2009;13(10):1260-6*.

UNAIDS (2003) Report of the global HIV/AIDS Epidemic. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, Geneva.

UNAIDS/WHO (2006), 'UNAIDS 2006 Report on the global AIDS epidemic'. 2006 Report on the global AIDS epidemic, UNAIDS, May 2006.Retrieved on June 17, 2007 from http://www.unaids.org/en/HIV_data/2006GlobalReport.

Vandenbruaene M, Colebunders R, Goeman J, Alary M, Farber CM, Kestens L, et al. Evaluation of two staging systems for HIV infection for use in developing countries. *AIDS*. 1993; 7:1613-5.

Wood E, RS Hogg, PR Harrigan and JS Montaner. When to initiate antiretroviral therapy in HIV-1-infected adults: a review for clinicians and patients, *Lancet Infect Dis* 2005;5(7):407–14

Wilkin TJ, Gulick RM. When to start antiretroviral therapy? *Clin Infect Dis.* 2008 ; 47(12):1580-6.

Wilja M, Janossy G, Glencross D, Barnett D, Mermin J, Downing RG;International Conference on AIDS. Less expensive CD4+ T cell monitoring using panleucogating. *Int Conf AIDS*. 2002

Williams B, Korenromp E, Gouws E, Schmid G, Auvert B, Dye C. HIV Infection, Antiretroviral Therapy, and CD4+ Cell Count Distributions in African Populations. *J Infect Dis* 2006; 194(1450)

World Health Organization 2005 Interim WHO Clinical Staging of HIV/AIDS and HIV/AIDS Case Definitions for Surveillance. Retrieved on June 17, 2007 from www.who.int/hiv/pub/guidelines/casedefinitions/en/index.html.

World Health Organization: Scaling up antiretroviral therapy in resource limited settings: Guidelines for a Public health approach...Geneva, WHO, 2003

World Health Organization (WHO). Scaling up antiretroviral therapy in resourcelimited settings: treatment guidelines for a public health approach, 2003 revision. Available at: http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/prev_care/en/arvrevision2003en .

World Health Organisation, antiretroviral Therapy for HIV Infection in Adults and Adolescents in Resource –Limited Settings. :Towards Universal Acess-Recommendations for aPublic Health Approach, August 7,2006

World Health Organisation, UNAIDS, UNICEF (2007) Towards universal access: scaling up priority HIV/AIDS interventions in the health sector: Progress Report, April 2007 Geneva: WHO. Available at:

http://libdoc.who.int/publications/2007/9789241595391_eng.pdf. Accessed 31st July 2008.

World Health Organization: Antiretroviral therapy for HIV infection in adults and adolescents in resource-limited settings: towards universal access. Volume 2006. Issue March 3, 2006.Geneva, Switzerland, World Health Organization; 2006.

World Health Organization: Interim WHO clinical staging of HIV/AIDS and HIV/AIDS case definitions for surveillance. African region; ref: who/hiv/2005.02.

Yazdanpanah Y, Chene G, Losina E, et al. Incidence of primary opportunistic infections in two human immunodeficiency virus-infected French clinical cohorts. *Int J Epidemiol* 2001; 30(4): 864–71.

8.0 Appendices

Appendix E.1 QUESTIONNAIRE USED FOR THE MAIN TRIAL: THE EFFECT OF ANTI-HERPETIC SUPPRESSIVE THERAPY ON HIV SHEDDING IN SOUTH AFRICAN WOMEN WHO ARE SEROPOSITIVE FOR HIV AND HSV2: A RANDOMISED CONTROLLED TRIAL

[visitCode] Visit code ##

We want to learn about aspects of your health related to your HIV infection.

1.	[firsthiv] Date of first known positive test for HIV? (dd/mmm/yy)	
	[inhivdate] – Incomplete date e.g (01- JAN-YYYY)	

2. In the past 12 months, have you had any of the following health problems?

If "Yes" to shaded items, then participant is ineligible (WHO Stage 3-4).

		Yes	No	D o n , t k n o w
2a	[sore] Persistent genital OR oral sores > 1 month?	1	2	98
2b	[wtloss] Substantial <u>unintentional</u> weight loss (>= 10% body weight)?	1	2	98
2c	[diamth] Diarrhea > 1 month (>= 3 loose stools/day)?	1	2	98

2d	[diawk] Diarrhea > 1 week but < 1 month?	1	2	98
2e	[pain] Pain or difficulty with swallowing?	1	2	98
2f	[fevmth] Fever > 1 month?	1	2	98
2g	[fevwk] Fever > 1 week but < 1 month?	1	2	98
2h	[coughmth] Cough > 1 month?	1	2	98
2i	[coughwk] Cough > 1 week but < 1 month?	1	2	98
2j	[sweatmth] Night sweats > 1 month	1	2	98
2k	[sweatwk] Night sweats > 1 week but < 1 month	1	2	98
21	[Headmth] Headache > 1 month?	1	2	98
2m	[Headwk] Headache > 1 week but < 1 month?	1	2	98
2n	[Bed] Confined to bed for more than half the daytime	1	2	98
20	[Rash] Generalized body rash?	1	2	98
2p	[Glands] Swollen glands in the neck or armpits?	1	2	98

In the past 12 months, have you been diagnosed by a health care provider 3. with...?

		Yes	No	Don't know
3a	[seizure] Seizures	1	2	98
3b	[renal] Renal failure	1	2	98
3c	[pneumo] Pneumonia	1	2	98
3d	[meningitis] Meningitis	1	2	98
3e	[tb] Tuberculosis (TB)	1	2	98
3f	[candida] Oral thrush (Candida)	1	2	98
3g	[shingles] Zoster (shingles)	1	2	98
3h	[kaposis] Kaposi's sarcoma	1	2	98

If "Yes" to shaded items, then participant is ineligible

3i	[otheropp] Other opportunistic	1	2	98
	infections			
	[speopp] Specify:			

4	[hosp] In the past 12 months, have you been hospitalized for any condition?	Yes=1 No=2 Don't know=98 Go to SPE
4a	[nohosp] If YES, how many times have you been hospitalized in the past 12 months?	
4b	What was the reason for admission?	[admit1] 1 TEXT [admit2] 2 TEXT [admit3] 3TEXT

[ptid] Participant ID

(dd/mmm/yy)

[ptwt] Patient weight	
-----------------------	--

2.	General examination	Yes	No	Not examined
a	[tired] Participant looks tired	1	2	88
b	[temp] Elevated temperature	1	2	88
с	[pallor] Pallor	1	2	88
d	[jaundice] Jaundice	1	2	88
e	[dehyd] Dehydration	1	2	88
f	[lymph] Lymphadenopathy (in ≥ 2 extragenital sites)	1	2	88
g	[edema] Oedema	1	2	88

3.	Skin	Yes	No	Not examined
a	[skinrash] Generalised skin rash	1	2	88
b	[skinzos] Zoster	1	2	88
С	[skinkap] Kaposi's sarcoma \rightarrow If YES, ineligible	1	2	88
d	[othskin] Other, [speskin] specify: TEXT	1	2	88



PAGEE 74 OF

Not

SCREENING I:	PHYSICAL	EXAMINATION	(SPE)
100			

PAGEE 75 OF

[ptid] Participant ID □□□□□ - □(S-####-#) Visit date □□/□□/□□

(dd/mmm/yy)

4.	Oral exam	Yes	No	Not examined
a	[oralthrush] Thrush \rightarrow If YES, ineligible	1	2	88
b	[ohl] OHL (oral hairy leukoplakia) \rightarrow If YES, ineligible	1	2	88
с	[oralkap] Kaposi's sarcoma \rightarrow If YES, ineligible	1	2	88
d	[oralulcer] Ulcers	1	2	88
e	[ginperid] Gingivitis/periodontitis	1	2	88
f	[othoral] Other			
	[speoral] specify: TEXT	1	2	88

5.	Chest	Yes	No	Not examined
a	[tachyp] Tachypnoea	1	2	88
b	[cynosis] Cyanosis	1	2	88
с	[pleural] Pleural effusion	1	2	88
d	[bronchial] Signs of bronchial or parenchymal disease	1	2	88
e	[othchest] Other [spechest] specify: TEXT	1	2	88
ł				

PAGEE 76 OF

[ptid] Participant ID (dd/mmm/yy)

Not 6. Abdomen Yes No examined 1 2 88 a [hepato] Hepatomegaly 1 2 88 b [spleno] Splenomegaly 1 2 88 с [ascites] Ascites 1 2 d 88 [abdm] Abdominal mass

7.	Nervous system	Yes	No	Not examined
а	[meng] Meningism	1	2	88
b	[abngait] Abnormal gait	1	2	88
с	[periph] Peripheral neuropathy	1	2	88
d	[Palsy] Visible palsy/paresis	1	2	88
e	[visd] Visual disturbances	1	2	88
f	[cogd] Cognitive deficit	1	2	88

Comments:

SCREENING I: PHYSICAL EXAMINATION (SPE) 100	PAGEE 77 OF	
[ptid] Participant ID	Visit date	
(dd/mmm/yy)		

FINAL .	FINAL ASSESSMENT OF HIV DISEASE STATUS				
8	[wstage] Indicate stage of HIV disease based on	Stage 1/2 =	\rightarrow Collect CD4+		
	WHO Clinical Staging System	1			
		Stage 3/4 =			
		2	→ Ineligible		

SCREENING I: PHYSICAL EXAMINATION (SPE) 100	PAGEE 78 OF	
ptid] Participant ID		
(dd/mmm/yy)		

Instructions for WHO Clinical Staging of HIV

SCREENING I:	PHYSICAL EXAMINATION (SPE)
100	

PAGEE	79 OF
-------	-------

[ptid] Participant ID (dd/mmm/yy)

Visit date

Figures 2-4: WHO staging system for HIV infection in adults and adolescents > 13 years

Clinical Stage I Asymptomatic Persistent generalised lymphadenopathy (PGL) Performance scale 1: Asymptomatic, normal activity 	 Clinical Stage II Weight loss, <10% of body weight Minor mucocutaneous manifestations (seborrheic dermatitis, prurigo, fungal nail infections, recurrent oral ulcerations, angular cheilitis) Herpes zoster, within the last five years Recurrent upper respiratory tract infections (i.e. bacterial sinusitis) and/or performance scale 2: symptomatic, normal activity
Clinical Stage III • Weight loss, >10% of body weight • Unexplained chronic diarrhoea, > 1 m • Unexplained prolonged fever (intermit • Oral candidiasis (thrush) • Oral hairy leukoplakia • Pulmonary tuberculosis, within the pas • Severe bacterial infections and/or performance scale 3: bedride	onth tent or constant) > 1 month st year den, < 50% of the day during the last month
 HIV wasting syndrome, as defined by CDC a Pneumocystic carinii pneumonia Toxoplasmosis of the brain Cryptosporidiosis with diarrhoea, > 1 month Cryptococcosis, extrapulmonary Cytomegalovirus (MCV) disease of an organ other than liver, spleen or lymp nodes 	 Any disseminated endemic mycosis (i.e. histoplasmosis, coccidioidomycosis) Candidiasis of the oesophagus, trachea bronchi or lungs Atypical mycobacteriosis, disseminated Non-typhoid Salmonella septicaemia Extrapulmonary tuberculosis Lymphoma Kaposi's sarcoma (KS) HIV encephalopathy, as defined by CDC b

HIV encephalopathy, as defined by CDC b and/or performance scale 4: bedridden, mucocutaneous >1 month, or visceral < 50% of the day during the last month

Herpes simplex virus (HSV) infection,

any duration

Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML)

a HIV wasting syndrome: Weight loss of > 10% of body weight, plus either unexplained chronic clarithoea (> 1 month), or chronic weakness and

unexplained protonged fever (> 1 month). b HIV encephalopathy. Clinical findings of disabling cognitive and/or motor dysfunction interfering with activities of daily living, progressing over weeks to months, in the absence of a concurrent liness or condition other than HIV infection that could explain the findings.

PAGEE 80 OF 100

[ptid] Participant ID □□□□□ - □(S-####-#) Visit date □□/□□/□□ (dd/mmm/yy)

Inclusion Criteria				
Items 1–6	must be answered "yes" for participant to be eligible.			
		Yes	No	
1	[legage] Is the participant of legal age to provide independent informed consent i.e. 18 years or older?	1	2	
2	[conct] Was the participant willing and able to provide independent written informed consent for screening? 2a. [sgcon] When was the informed consent for screening signed or marked?	1	2	
3	[locator] Was the participant willing and able to provide adequate locator information?	1	2	
4	[adh] Is the participant willing and able to undergo clinical examinations, take study drug as directed for the specified period and adhere to the visit schedule?	1	2	
5	 [contra] Is the participant using a reliable method of contraception? 5a. [spcontra] Specify method of family planning here: TEXT 	1	2	
	Items 6 is read aloud to the participant.	Yes	No	
6	[address] Have you been staying at your current address for > one month?	1	2	

PAGEE 81 OF 100

[ptid] Participant ID

(dd/mmm/yy)

		Yes	N
7	[stage34] Does the participant have evidence of WHO Stage 3-4 disease?	1	2
8	[coind] Does the participant have any contra-indications to the use of acyclovir (epilepsy, kidney failure)?	1	2
	Items 8–17 are read aloud to the participant.	Yes	N
9	[trial] Are you currently enrolled in any other HIV treatment or prevention trial?	1	2
10	[arv] Are you currently taking any anti-HIV medicines (anti-retrovirals)	1	2
11	[adv] Have you ever had a known "bad" (adverse) reaction to acyclovir?	1	2
12	[hepmed] Are you currently taking any medicines such as acyclovir, valacyclovir, famciclovir, or foscarnet for the daily treatment of genital herpes?	1	2
13	[gud] Have you had a genital ulcer for more than one month which does not get better with treatment?	1	2
14	[epigen] Have you experienced > 6 episodes of genital herpes in the past year (twelve months)?	1	2
15	[cpreg] Are you currently pregnant or do you suspect that you might be pregnant? 1		2
17	[tpreg] Are you planning to become pregnant in the next four months?	1	2
18	[travel] Do you plan to travel out of the study area for more than two weeks in a row while enrolled in the trial?	1	2

SCREENING I: PHYSICAL EXAMINATION (SPE)	PAGEE 82 OF 100	
[ptid] Participant ID	Visit date	
(dd/mmm/yy)		

→Note that *Final Eligibility* is determined once Screening Laboratory Results Form (SLR) is completed.

	[hivd] H	IV specimen collection date $\Box \Box / \Box \Box / \Box \Box$ (de	d/mmm/yy)	
1	[inhiv] HIV specimen collection date 0=Not apply 1. Apply \rightarrow <i>If no proof of test results available, perform rapid test to confirm status</i>			
	[hivst]	Positive = 1		
2	HIV status	Negative = 2	→Ineligible	

3	[hsvd] HSV-2 specimen collection date $\Box \Box / \Box \Box \Box / \Box \Box$ (dd/mmm/yy)			
5	[inhsv] I	v] Incompleted HSV-2 specimen collection date 0=Not apply 1. Apply		
		00.0	If >3.4 go to item 6	
	[hsvind		If 1.1-3.4 go to item 5	
4] HSV-			
	2 index			
			If <1.1 ineligible	
			-	
5	[kalon	Positive = 1	\rightarrow Go to item 6	
] Kalon	Negativa – 2		
	HSV-2	Negative – 2	7 mengible	
	EIA	Not done = 9		
	Resolve			
	equivoc			
	al			
	results			

PAGEE 83 OF 100

[ptid] Participant ID

(dd/mmm/yy)

(Index	
1.1-3.4)	

6	[urined] Urine specimen collection date $\Box\Box/\Box\Box\Box/\Box\Box$ (dd/mmm/yy)		
7	[pregt] Pregnan cy test result	Positive = 1 Negative = 2	→Ineligible
8	[scrlysis]] Urinalys is	Protein 3+ = 1 <protein 3+="2</td"><td>→Ineligible</td></protein>	→Ineligible

0	[cd4d] CD4+ specimen collection date $\Box \Box / \Box \Box \Box / \Box \Box$ (dd/mmm/yy)			
9	[incd4] Incomplete CD4 ⁺ specimen collection date. 0=Not apply 1. Apply			
	[cd4c]		\rightarrow If < 250, ineligible	
10	CD4			
	count			
	[cd4p]			
11	CD4			
	Percent			

SCREENING I: PHYSICAL EXAMINATION (SPE)	PAGEE 84 OF 100
[ptid] Participant ID	Visit date
(dd/mmm/yy)	

Appendix E.2 ETHICAL CLEARANCE FROM ETHICS COMMITTEE.

PAGEE 85 OF 100

[ptid] Participant ID		- □(S-####-#)
(dd/mmr	n/yy)	

Visit date

UNIVERSITY OF THE WITWATERSRAND, JOHANNESBURG

Division of the Deputy Registrar (Research)

HUMAN RESEARCH ETHICS COMMITTEE (MEDICAL) R14/49 Horumpende

CLEARANCE CERTIFICATE

PROJECT

INVESTIGATORS

DEPARTMENT

South African women Dr P Horumpende

PROTOCOL NUMBER M080339 An analysis of clinical signs and

symptoms which best predict the need for HAART initiation in HIV infected

School of Public Health

DATE CONSIDERED

DECISION OF THE COMMITTEE*

08.03.25

Approved unconditionally

Unless otherwise specified this ethical clearance is valid for 5 years and may be renewed upon

application.

DATE 08.04.07



(Professor P E Cleaton Jones)

*Guidelines for written 'informed consent' attached where applicable

cc: Supervisor : Dr S Delany-Moretiwe

DECLARATION OF INVESTIGATOR(S)

To be completed in duplicate and ONE COPY returned to the Secretary at Room 10004, 10th Flour. Senate House, University.

I/We fully understand the conditions under which I am/we are authorized to carry out the abovementioned research and I/we guarantee to ensure compliance with these conditions. Should any departure to be contemplated from the research procedure as approved I/we undertake to resubmit the protocol to the Committee. <u>I agree to a completion of a yearly progress report.</u>

PLEASE QUOTE THE PROTOCOL NUMBER IN ALL ENQUIRIES